
MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER – ITEM 6A 



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  November 16, 2010 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE  
Direction on Potential Redevelopment of Diagonal Plaza Shopping Center 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Paul J. Fetherston, Deputy City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Liz Hanson, Economic Vitality Coordinator 
Sam Assefa, Senior Urban Designer 
Trish Jimenez, Senior Financial Manager 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Diagonal Plaza is an aging commercial center in northeast Boulder.  First developed in 
1965, the area is comprised of multiple properties, all controlled by separate owners. 
Over the past several years, primary tenants such as Albertson’s, Ross, and PetSmart 
have moved from the site and tax revenue collections have declined each year. There 
have been no applications to the city for redevelopment, although there has been an 
increase in inquiries from developers interested in the site. 
 
Staff has identified initial key issues and a draft list of “Criteria for Success” 
(Attachment F) which include: 
 Make the highest and best use of a significant area of commercially zoned land; 

increase sales tax revenue collections 
 Prioritize retail uses that meet unmet needs in the existing mix of retail 

opportunities in Boulder 
 Extend the street grid and pedestrian/bicycle connections to and through the site 
 Incorporate other uses in the site – potentially housing – that could contribute 

toward the district’s commercial life 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 1



The City of Boulder commissioned an initial study of Diagonal Plaza and the immediate 
surrounding area, including evaluating the future redevelopment options. A Request for 
Proposal (RFP) was issued by the city on June 18, 2010 to select a consultant to perform 
a preliminary economic analysis. In the RFP, the city requested an economic analysis of 
three scenarios to determine the feasibility of the following redevelopment options: 

1. Retail big box or mid-box development 
2. Horizontal mixed use with a mix of retail and residential uses 
3. Vertical mixed use containing both retail and residential uses 

 
On August 11, 2010, the city selected a consulting team lead by the land economics 
consulting firm of Economic & Planning Systems (EPS). The resulting report is included 
in Attachment G for the City Council’s review. The consultants’ analysis indicates that 
each of the three scenarios would require some level of public subsidy or investment.  
The feasibility of Scenario 1 (commercial only with big box retail) and Scenario 2 
(horizontal mixed use) is questionable even with the maximum public financing.  The 
report indicates that Scenario 3 (vertical mixed use) may be feasible with tax increment 
financing (TIF) if retail is configured in a way that is appealing to the commercial 
market. Only a few big box retailers are listed as having “high” potential and these 
retailers are generally seeking a project land cost that is substantially lower than the 
report’s rough estimation of the site’s value. The report also raises questions as to the 
appeal of the Diagonal Plaza as a regional retail site versus a community retail center.  
 
The Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) met on September 29 to discuss the 
economic analysis report and provide recommendations and the Planning Board was 
updated on the report at its November 4 meeting.   Feedback on this topic from BURA 
and Planning Board is included in this memorandum.  
 
To provide City Council with more information and to position the city for a potential 
role in the redevelopment of Diagonal Plaza, additional steps are warranted. Based on the 
site’s circumstances and experience in redevelopment of similar aging shopping centers 
elsewhere, one of the most significant challenges for privately led redevelopment will be 
property assemblage.  Further, the initial economic analysis indicates that it is unlikely 
that a private developer will pursue Diagonal Plaza as a project without access to tools 
such as tax increment financing to help fund the significant infrastructure and other site 
improvements needed to support economic success.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion:    
   
Motion to direct the city manager to proceed with the next steps of evaluating 
redevelopment of the Diagonal Plaza shopping center and area including scheduling an 
Urban Land Institute Technical Assistance Panel, soliciting feedback and interest from 
real estate developers and retailers, and examining work program options.   

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 2



COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 Economic – Sales tax revenues from the Diagonal Plaza shopping center have 

declined over the past few years.  Redevelopment of an underperforming 
shopping center would likely result in an increase in occupied retail square 
footage and an increase in city sales tax revenues.  When evaluating planning and 
retail tenant options, careful consideration must be given to uses that draw new 
shopping dollars into Boulder, thereby minimizing “cannibalization” or relocating 
existing sales tax revenues from other parts of Boulder to this site. 

 Environmental – Diagonal Plaza and the surrounding properties could greatly 
benefit from (in new construction or renovation) energy efficiency improvements 
the use of renewable energy sources, drainage and stormwater improvements, and 
greatly improved multimodal circulation patterns.   

 Social - Redevelopment of an existing, aging shopping center may cause a 
reduction in existing affordable retail space, although it may also result in retail 
space with more affordable merchandise.  Redevelopment for affordable housing 
and/or a wider range of retail stores and services could better serve the needs of 
different ethnicities and cultures, incomes, and family demographics. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

 Fiscal - Depending on the desired project options, redevelopment may involve 
city expenditures for further analysis and studies and possibly a public-private 
financing options, all of which may require city funding. Funding amounts would 
be calculated based on City Council direction on next step options. Early city 
investment in this area may precede city revenue generation. 

 Staff time – Community Planning and Sustainability’s redevelopment staff team – 
Liz Hanson (Economic Vitality Coordinator), Sam Assefa (Senior Urban 
Designer), and Trish Jimenez (Senior Financial Manager) – will oversee next 
steps for redevelopment options.  Consulting resources would be required for a 
blight study, certain area planning efforts.  Additional consultant needs would be 
determined based on project next steps. 

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) and the Planning Board reviewed the 
consultants’ economic analysis and provided the following feedback on the next steps for 
evaluating Diagonal Plaza redevelopment. 
 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority 
Minutes of the September 29 BURA meeting are included as Attachment H; they 
include detailed notes of the Commissioners discussions.  Some key findings and 
recommendations of the BURA Commissioners include: 
 

 It is a good time to be planning for this site (given the current economic climate); 
keep the project moving forward. 

 The redevelopment scenarios will need higher densities to truly be successful. 
 We need affordable shopping in Boulder that will raise sales tax revenue and to 

bring in something new that will draw people into the city. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 3



 Mid-box stores would compete with other Boulder stores. This is the last, best 
place for a big box development to occur in Boulder and the city needs a mass 
retailer in the core area. Costco has the best ability to do that. 

 TIF (tax increment financing) will be needed to complete this project. 
 The city needs to define a vision for the site before any real redevelopment 

decisions can be made. 
 Recommended next steps:  a blight study, explore developer interest and potential 

interest of key retailers, host a ULI (Urban Land Institute) Technical Assistance 
Panel to help explore options in more details and draw on outside expertise. 

 Area planning efforts would not be a good use of staff’s time if the project won’t 
work. 

 There shouldn’t be any city funds put into an attempt to fix the appearance of the 
site in the interim. 

 
Planning Board     
Staff provided an update on the Diagonal Plaza study to the Planning Board at its 
November 4, 2010 meeting.  Key Planning Board comments include: 
 

 Agreed with the proposed next steps and encouraged the city to move forward 
considering redevelopment options for the site. 

 Board members differed on whether the city should consider an incremental 
approach (rather than dealing with the entire site) to spark private investment and 
change, especially since two lots (5 and 7) are currently for sale. 

 Consider a broader concept of a “big box” store, looking at more unique and 
cultural stores (e.g. Pacific Ocean Marketplace). 

 According to the consultants’ economic report, the economic “gap” is pretty 
astonishing, so some creative thinking will be needed. 

 Explore higher density variations of Scenario 3, potentially incorporating a big 
box retail store. 

 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Diagonal Plaza study area property owners and the general public have been contacted 
through various media as follows: 

 Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment and BURA web sites – with information on 
the study area, RFP process and schedule, and public meetings. 

 Letters from City Manager – were sent to study area property owners to 
inform them of the upcoming RFP process and the consultants’ economic 
analysis report. 

 Communication from Economic Vitality Coordinator – by phone calls and e-
mails to in-state property owners to provide updates and answer questions about 
the Diagonal Plaza redevelopment study and next steps.  Feedback from owners 
was generally positive and several indicated a willingness to help the process.  
Several indicated that they were not surprised the city was trying to get a 
redevelopment project started on the site. 

 Public participation at the September 29 BURA meeting – Three people, 
including a study area property owner, spoke to the BURA Commissioners 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 4



regarding Diagonal Plaza (see meeting minutes in Attachment H).  All 
encouraged a proactive approach by the city to redevelopment. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
Background information about the Diagonal Plaza shopping center, property ownership, 
and tax revenue collections is found in Attachment A. 
 
ANALYSIS 
Economic Analysis Report 

   
In the RFP, the city requested an economic analysis of three scenarios to determine the 
feasibility of the following redevelopment options: 

1. Retail big box or mid-box development 
2. Horizontal mixed use with a mix of retail and residential uses 
3. Vertical mixed use containing both retail and residential uses 

The purpose of the options was to describe general potential development opportunities, 
not to represent discreet alternatives for potential selection.  
 
Over a period of one month, the consultants made a preliminary determination of 
feasibility for each scenario, including the following tasks: 
 Redevelopment Scenarios – three scenarios of uses and density for feasibility testing 

and the economic analyses. Conceptual drawings are illustrative only and are not 
proposed plans (any actual redevelopment plans would be developed through the 
city’s public process and based on current economics); the key purpose of the 
illustrations is to “test fit” for building square footage, building footprints, residential 
units, etc.  

 Economic and Market Assessment – the consultants’ assessment of mid and large 
format national retailer opportunities for the Boulder market and specifically for the 
Diagonal Plaza site; the economic benefits of specific tenants and uses are estimated 
based on the potential to generate net new retail sales activity and tax revenues 

 Development Feasibility – evaluates the financial feasibility of the three 
development scenarios by comparing future project costs to future project revenues; 
acquisition cost estimates are a rough approximation used for the analysis, since no 
actual value of the site can be determined without an appraisal (and would be based 
on a wide variety of factors) 

 Redevelopment Options – identifies the public financing that could be used to 
address costs associated with redevelopment and outlines city implementation options 

 
A summary of the findings is included on pages 5 through 7 of the consultants’ 
report.  Based on the report, each of the three scenarios would require some level of 
public subsidy or investment.  The feasibility of Scenario 1 (commercial only with big 
box retail) and Scenario 2 (horizontal mixed use) is questionable even with the maximum 
public financing.  The report indicates that Scenario 3 (vertical mixed use) may be 
feasible with tax increment financing, provided the development plans configure retail in 
a way that is appealing to the commercial market. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 5



Scenario 1 has the largest “feasibility gap” of $52.2 million, primarily due to the 
estimated land cost and lower density of the site (e.g. there is a limit to how much “big 
box” can fit on this site given parking needs and site configuration.)  Only a few big box 
retailers are listed as having “high” potential and these retailers are generally seeking  a 
project land cost that is substantially lower than the report’s rough estimation of the site’s 
value. The report also raises questions as to the appeal of the Diagonal Plaza as a regional 
retail site versus a community retail center.  

 
Staff requests City Council direction on the following items: 
 What is the City Council’s initial vision for this site (e.g. land uses, density)? 
 What are the key desirable outcomes of redevelopment? 
 If a ULI Technical Assistance Panel is held, what questions should be posed to 

the panel? 
 
Staff Recommendation of Next Steps 
 
To provide City Council with more information and position the city for a potential role 
in the redevelopment of Diagonal Plaza, additional steps are warranted.  EPS’ 
preliminary economic analysis is helpful as a first step, providing an initial evaluation of 
redevelopment options as well as a rough estimate of land values (high compared to 
common big box or mid box land values) and a general assessment of retailers’ interests 
in the site under current market and community conditions. Based on the history of the 
site and redevelopment of similar aging shopping centers elsewhere, one of the most 
significant challenges for privately led redevelopment will be property assemblage.  
Further, the initial economic analysis indicates that it is unlikely that a private developer 
will pursue Diagonal Plaza as a project without access to tools such as tax increment 
financing to help fund the significant infrastructure and other site improvements needed 
to support economic success.  In summary, it is unlikely that Diagonal Plaza will 
successfully redevelop in the next five to ten years without active city participation in 
helping to overcome these substantial logistical and financial obstacles. 
 
In light of the clear public interest in redevelopment of Diagonal Plaza, the following 
next steps are recommended: 
 
 Urban Land Institute (ULI) Technical Assistance Panel (TAP) - In July staff met 

with members of ULI (Boulder and Colorado) to discuss Diagonal Plaza and the 
possibility of a TAP for this site.  The ULI TAP program brings expertise in the real 
estate, planning, financial, and development fields together to test options and 
viability for complex land use, urban design and redevelopment projects.  ULI 
assembles relevant expertise from its local and national membership for working 
sessions. ULI staff, working with city staff, prepares relevant background 
information, including focus group interviews and meetings, to prepare participating 
experts in advance of the working sessions. The cost for the TAP ranges from 
$10,000 to $20,000 for a one to two day session.  Following the TAP, a summary of 
the recommendations is compiled in a report and presented by ULI to the city.  
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 6



Recommended areas of focus for the ULI TAP are summarized below:    
- Analyze the re-use potential of existing properties in light of current and projected 

market conditions as well as community priorities;  
- Identify key economic and management issues and opportunities relating to 

potential public/private partnership for the site’s redevelopment;  
- Explore site development options, including land use, urban design and 

connectivity for the site and area. Is a higher density, vertical mixed use project 
that incorporates a “box” store feasible here? 

- Assess alternative development strategies and policies to achieve the city’s goals. 
- Provide insight regarding potential timing issues for city participation in the site’s 

redevelopment (is it important to act now, or would there be a benefit to waiting?)  
 

Staff would work closely with ULI staff to prepare the necessary background 
information to ensure a successful TAP process.  This information will also be useful 
for subsequent a community-focused planning efforts.  Options will also be explored 
for engaging key stakeholders in the TAP discussions and making the presentations 
accessible to the public. The TAP does not replace a community process, but is a 
relatively low cost, short timeframe strategy to begin a broader “visioning” for the 
site that is informed by economic realities and experiences in other communities.  

 
 Further discuss the site with interested developers and retailers – Continue to 

obtain insight about Diagonal Plaza from interested real estate developers and major 
retailers of high interest to Boulder. Staff has received initial inquiries from several 
developers but, as advised by the BURA Commissioners, more insight is needed to 
test market realities and better understand the possible courses of action and potential 
outcomes for the city. 
 

 Examine work program implications for project options – Depending on the 
direction of City Council and next steps, the work program for initial redevelopment 
activity will vary.  Some work program options may require more staff time 
(primarily by the Community Planning and Sustainability’s redevelopment team). 
Other options may involve more time by consultants (and funding) or a developer.  
For example, a Request for Proposal (RFP) could be issued for a master developer for 
the site and the selected developer would proceed with development of a project 
proposal assisted by rather than led by city staff and informed by community input. 
 

 Hold a joint session of BURA and City Council to review findings – Following 
completion of the ULI/TAP, findings would be presented to a joint session of BURA 
and City Council.  This session might be combined with a presentation by ULI.  
Following this review, City Council would consider whether to proceed with a blight 
study and development of an urban renewal plan and/or a more detailed planning 
process.  
 

 Conduct a Blight Study – Hire a consultant to determine if specified properties in 
the Diagonal Plaza area are considered “blighted,” as defined in state statutes (see 
Attachment B for more detail).  If the study finds the area in question to be blighted, 
BURA may proceed with redevelopment planning under an urban renewal project.  A 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 7



finding of blight also gives the city the right to condemn property using eminent 
domain. The RFP issued by the city in June included a Phase 2 proposal for a blight 
study, although the city has not yet entered into a contract for such Phase 2 work 
(awaiting Council direction on the project).  If City Council directs staff to proceed 
with this step, this phase of the work would be initiated and completed by an expected 
delivery date in early first quarter of  2011.  

 
 
ATTACHMENTS  

A. Diagonal Plaza Background Information 
B. Urban Renewal: An Overview 
C. Diagonal Plaza Study Area Map 
D. Diagonal Plaza Study Area - Property and Building Data 
E. Diagonal Plaza Study Area - Property Ownership 
F. Redeveloping Diagonal Plaza - Preliminary Criteria for Success 
G. Consultants’ Report - Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
H. BURA Meeting Minutes – September 29, 2010 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 8



ATTACHMENT A 
 

DIAGONAL PLAZA BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

Diagonal Plaza Shopping Center 
 

The Diagonal Plaza is a commercial center in northeast Boulder.  The center was first 
developed in 1965, with a subsequent phase developed in 1995 near 30th Street.  The area 
is comprised of multiple properties, all controlled by separate owners. Several of the 
properties have long term leases.  The area is mainly zoned BC-1 (Business Community 
– 1) and the center’s physical infrastructure does not meet the city’s current land use 
regulation standards, including circulation, landscaping, and lighting.   
 

The Diagonal Plaza center has been aging and the physical appearance of its buildings 
and improvements have been declining.  It is also the city’s most underutilized retail 
center.   

- Over the past several years, primary tenants such as Albertson’s, Ross, and 
PetSmart have moved from the site.  Other smaller tenant spaces are also vacant 
throughout the project, including those in the “mini-mall” indoor retail space and 
the former Lazy Dog Saloon site along the Diagonal Highway. 

- 24 Hour Fitness is the newest large tenant and one of the site’s major draws, along 
with the State of Colorado Drivers’ License Office. 

- Rite Aid and Sports Authority occupy larger tenant spaces along 28th Street.  
- There have been no applications to the city for redevelopment of the site, although 

in recent months the city has received increased inquiries from developers 
interested in the site. 

 

A draft list of “Preliminary Criteria for Success” has been developed by staff (see 
Attachment F) with the goal of establishing “a new paradigm for the design, 
development and management of community shopping centers in Boulder in a manner 
that advances our community’s goals related to economic, social and environmental 
sustainability.” Issues related to retail uses, sales tax, connectivity, public space, mixed 
uses, and environmental sustainability are identified as being key to the center’s 
redevelopment regardless of the specific development scenario chosen. 
 
The Diagonal Plaza Study 
 

The Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan focuses on infill and redevelopment as a means 
of avoiding sprawl. Community discussions about how we can best manage our future 
focus on the revitalization and redevelopment of underperforming and underutilized 
properties in our existing urban core. The Diagonal Plaza is one of these properties. The 
City of Boulder has begun the steps to conduct an initial study of the Diagonal Plaza 
center and the immediate surrounding area, including evaluating the options related to 
future redevelopment. The city also seeks information about the feasibility of public-
private partnerships or financial options such as the use of the Boulder Urban Renewal 
Authority (BURA), tax increment financing, or other public financing tools.  For an 
overview of urban renewal, tax increment financing, and BURA, please see Attachment 
B. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 9



The city has defined a study area for the purpose of this initial analysis – the commercial 
properties generally bounded by the Diagonal Highway, Glenwood Drive, 28th and 30th 
Streets (see map in Attachment C).  The study area includes the Diagonal Plaza 
shopping center as well as several nearby properties that provide context or may benefit 
from circulation improvements; it includes 15 properties, each with separate owners.  
Two of the properties near the northeast corner of Glenwood Avenue and 28th Street have 
considerable vacancies.   Attachments D and E shows property, building and property 
ownership information for the 15 properties. Property owners in the study area were 
contacted by the city by mail and/or by phone to review the status of the 2010 Diagonal 
Plaza Study. 
 
The table below shows the aggregate city taxes collected for the 15 properties in the 
Diagonal Plaza Study Area from 2007 to 2009.  Tax revenue collections have declined 
each year.  Also, less than half a million dollars in city sales taxes were collected in 2009. 
In a general comparison of 2009 sales tax revenues, $2,252,679 were collected from 
Table Mesa Shopping Center (Broadway and Table Mesa),  $1,339,146 from Basemar 
Shopping Center (Baseline and Broadway), and $1,000,594 from Meadows on the 
Baseline (Foothills Parkway and Baseline). 
 
 
 

Diagonal Plaza RFP Study Area  
City of Boulder - Aggregate Taxes  

  2007 2008 2009 Total 

Sales Tax $673,943  $547,152  $483,792  $1,704,888  

Use Tax $6,225  $10,170  $6,613  $23,008  

Food Tax $6,465  $5,955  $5,589  $18,009  

Property Tax $910,684  $958,441  $1,002,361  $2,871,486  

Total $1,597,317  $1,521,718  $1,498,355  $4,617,391  

 
 
A Request for Proposal (RFP) was issued by the city on June 18, 2010 to select a 
consultant to perform a preliminary economic analysis. On August 11, 2010 the city 
selected the Denver-based land economics consulting firm of Economic Planning and 
Systems (EPS), with a Boulder-based team of OZ Architecture, Scott Cox & Associates, 
and RRC to complete this study.  The resulting study report is included in Attachment G 
for the City Council’s Review. 
 
 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 10



Attachment B 
 

Urban Renewal: An Overview 
September 24, 2010 

 
Prepared by City of Boulder Economic Vitality Staff 

 
 
Urban Renewal 
 
Urban renewal is a form of land redevelopment usually seen in urban areas.  The process of 
urban renewal involves taking urban land that has deteriorated, either physically or 
economically, and redeveloping it to renew the property and its surroundings’ value.   
 
An “Urban Renewal Project” is defined in State Statute 31-25-102 as: 

 
Undertaking activities for the elimination and for the prevention of the 
development or spread of slums and blight and may involve slum clearance and 
redevelopment, or rehabilitation, or conservation, or any combination or part 
thereof in accordance with and urban renewal plan. Such undertakings and 
activities may include  

a) Acquisition of slum or blighted area 
b) Demolition and removal of buildings and improvements  
c) Installation, construction, or reconstruction of streets, utilities, 

parks, playgrounds, and other necessary improvements need to carry 
out the “urban renewal plan”  

d) Disposition of any property acquired by the Authority including sale, 
initial leasing, or retention by the authority for fair value of such 
property as with its use in the urban renewal plan  

e) Repair, alteration, and rehabilitation of buildings or other 
improvements in accordance with the urban renewal plan. 

f) Acquisition of any other property where necessary to eliminate 
unhealthful, unsanitary, or unsafe conditions, lessen density, 
eliminate obsolete or other uses detrimental to the public welfare, or 
otherwise remove or prevent the spread of blight or deterioration or 
to provide land for needed public facilities. 

 
By Colorado State Statute 31-25-102 an urban authority may only proceed with an urban 
renewal plan, and designate and urban renewal area, if the area in question is determined to be 
blighted. The judgment is based on the results of a blight study. Colorado urban renewal law 
was updated this year with the passing of House Bill 10-1107.  The bill limits the use of 
agriculture lands in urban renewal projects.  

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 11



 

Blight Study  

A “blighted area” is a term defined in Colorado State Statute 31-25-103. There are 11 factors 
of blight identified in the law, and four of them must be found for an area to be declared an 
urban renewal area, unless there is no objection by the property owner(s) and tenants, in which 
case only one factor of blight must be present. If eminent domain is used, five factors of blight 
must be found. The following factors are used to determine if an area is blighted: 

a) Slum, deteriorated, or deteriorating structures; 
b) Predominance of defective or inadequate street layout; 
c) Faulty lot layout in relation to size, adequacy, accessibility, or usefulness 
d) Unsanitary or unsafe conditions 
e) Deterioration of site or other improvements 
f) Unusual topography or inadequate public improvements or utilities 
g) Defective or unusual conditions of title rendering the title non-marketable 
h) The existence of conditions that endanger life or property by fire or other causes 
i) Buildings that are unsafe or unhealthy for persons to live or work in because of 

building code violations, dilapidation, deterioration, defective design, physical 
construction, or faulty or inadequate facilities 

j) Environmental contamination of buildings or property 
k) The existence of health, safety, or welfare factors requiring high levels of municipal 

services or substantial physical underutilization or vacancy of sites, buildings, or other 
improvements 

If the study finds the area in question to be blighted, the urban renewal authority may proceed 
with redevelopment planning under an urban renewal project.  A finding of blight also gives 
the city the right to condemn property using eminent domain.  
 
Tax Increment Financing (TIF) 
 
Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) is a tool utilized by urban renewal authorities (URAs) to fill 
the gap between the total cost of a redevelopment project and the level of private financing it 
can obtain. TIF utilizes the future sales tax and/or property tax revenue gains from 
redevelopment to fund the redevelopment itself. The URA estimates the expected tax value of 
the redeveloped site and subtracts the current tax value, known as the “base valuation.” The 
difference between the two is the “tax increment.” The city keeps the base valuation, while the 
tax increment is used to pay off any bonds or other financing used to fund the project. Under 
Colorado state law, the URA can capture the tax increment for up to 25 years after the approval 
of the plan to use TIF. 
 
History of the Boulder Urban Renewal Authority  
  
The Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) was created by the Boulder City Council in 
March 1979.  BURA consists of five commissioners who serve five year terms. BURA 
Commissioners are appointed by the Mayor of the City of Boulder. BURA is responsible for 
encouraging the redevelopment of property within City Council-established redevelopment 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 12



 

districts. BURA also provides input regarding redevelopment issues and programs to the City 
Manager. The BURA Board of Commissioners meets as needed, rather than on a regular, 
monthly basis. 

The current BURA commissioners are: KC Becker, John Wyatt, Richard Wobbekind, Jerry 
Lee, and Chet Winter.  

Historically, BURA has only used urban renewal for large commercial projects.  BURA has 
undertaken only two urban renewal projects: the redevelopment of Crossroads Mall in the early 
1980’s and the Ninth and Canyon redevelopment where the St. Julien Hotel and a public 
parking structure stand today. In both projects, the City partnered with a private developer.  
Each urban renewal proposal is evaluated on a project by project basis to ensure compliance 
with state statutes.  
 

Boulder Valley Regional Center (BVRC) and Crossroads Mall 
 

1979 

February     Boulder City Council votes unanimously to use “persuasive and legal powers” 
to expand shopping facilities between 28th and 30th, north of Arapahoe, and 
to improve transportation in the area. 

March         City Council creates the Boulder Urban Renewal Authority. 

April           City Council approves the Boulder Valley Regional Center (BVRC) Urban 
Renewal Plan. 

April           The Macerich Company purchases Crossroads Mall for $12 million. 

June             Boulder voters approve Tax Increment Financing (TIF) method to finance 
redevelopment. 

December    Macerich selected as developer and May D&F (now Macy’s) commits to 
build a store at Crossroads. 

1981 Boulder voters reaffirm support for Crossroads’ expansion through a second 
election brought by a citizen petition. 

1982 BURA secures financing for a $20 million bond issue. 

1983 The expansion of Crossroads Mall opens in August with May D&F and new 
retail stores in the enclosed north end of the mall. The mall is approximately 
850,000 square feet. 

1987           The BVRC Urban Renewal Plan is revised to include more specific planning 
and development goals for the portion of the BVRC surrounding Crossroads 
Mall. 

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 13



 

9th and Canyon     
 

1994 

December 14 St. Julien Partners purchase parcel at 9th and Canyon 

1995 

July 11 City Council approves reviewed Urban Renewal Plan 

1996 

March 5 City Council, acting as the Central Area General Improvement District 
(CAGID) Board of Directors, denies inclusion of CAGID property in the St. 
Julien concept review for the Urban Renewal Plan 

May 7 St. Julien submittal of a hotel project only on Canyon (on St. Julien property 
only) 

December 5 Planning Board denies St. Julien project on Canyon 

1997 

January 21 City Council, acting as the CAGID Board of Directors, authorizes CAGID 
inclusion on the St. Julien concept plan in accordance with the Urban Renewal 
Plan 

1998 

July 21 City Council approval of Letter of Intent with St. Julien Partners 

 City Council approval of CAGID Bond election for the garage 

November 3 CAGID Election for garage is successful 

1999 

September 21 Civic Use Task Force recommendations endorsed by City Council 

November 18 BURA meeting and review of site review submittal 

2000 

February 17 Planning Board approval of St. Julien/CAGID site (7-1) and VAC use review 

May 17 BURA approval of the BURA/City of Boulder Cooperation Agreement 

June 6 City Council approval of Civic Users Letter of Intent 

City Council approval of BURA/City of Boulder Cooperation Agreement 

2002 

May 21 St. Julien Hotel/ CAGID garage submit for building permit 

2003 

January 16 Request to BURA for loan for civic infrastructure 

April 2               BURA approval of the Cooperation Agreement 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 14



 

April 7  Building Permit approval 

May 6  City Council approves the project agreements including Condominium 
Declaration, Joint Development Agreement, etc. 

 City Council approves the preliminary Official Statement for CAGID bond 
sale of $12,500,000 

May 21 Groundbreaking Ceremony 

June 19 CAGID Bond Sale 

2004 

November CAGID garage opens 

2005 

February Hotel opens 

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 15



3320

3303

3200

3300

2960

2900

3285

2880

2850

3390 3395

3295

2990

2801

28
TH

30
TH

IRIS

DIAGONAL

GLENWOOD

29
TH

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 16

BadeS1
Text Box
   1

BadeS1
Text Box
  2

BadeS1
Text Box
 4

BadeS1
Text Box
 5

BadeS1
Text Box
 6

BadeS1
Text Box
 7 

BadeS1
Text Box
 8

BadeS1
Text Box
 9

BadeS1
Text Box
10

BadeS1
Text Box
 11

BadeS1
Text Box
  12 

BadeS1
Text Box
 13

BadeS1
Text Box
  14

BAdeS1
Text Box
  15

BAdeS1
Text Box

BAdeS1
Text Box
Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis RFP Study Area June 2010

BadeS1
Text Box
 3

BadeS1
Text Box
    Attachment C



Plot # ADDRESS BLDGCLASS BLDGYEAR BLDGSQFT AREASQFT ZONING LANDUSE PREVREVIEW FLOOD BLDGVALUE LANDVALUE

1 2801 IRIS AV MERCHANDISING 1960 2,707.00       10,591.00       BC-1 GB 214,400.00$         290,100$          

2 2880 DIAGONAL HY RESTAURANTS 1979 10,322.00     81,448.00       BC-1 GB P-78-39 500Ye 48,400.00$           1,192,900$       

3 2960 DIAGONAL HY BANKS 1995 44,301.00     108,584.00     BC-1 GB SI-94-5, UR-94-6 100Ye 4,073,900.00$      2,326,100$       

4 2990 DIAGONAL HY SERVICE STATION 1969 1,961.00       25,725.00       BC-1 GB SR, SI-97-7 100Ye 155,000.00$         537,000$          

5 3390 28TH ST RESTAURANTS 1975 5,902.00       48,749.00       BC-1 CB PUD 503,200.00$         869,600$          

6 3320 28TH ST MERCHANDISING 1965 48,968.00     291,900.00     BC-1 CB 1,033,400.00$      2,961,100$       

7 2850 IRIS AV WEST MERCHANDISING 1983 25,089.00     79,871.00       BC-1 CB 1,562,700.00$      1,626,100$       

8 2850 IRIS AV EAST 0 -                42,408.00       BC-1 CB 924,000$          

9 2900 IRIS AV MERCHANDISING 1973 38,226.00     96,912.00       BC-1 CB 2,580,600.00$      2,108,800$       

10 3303 30TH ST MERCHANDISING 1995 117,596.00   247,771.00     BC-1 100Ye 4,151,600.00$      3,948,400$       

11 3395 30TH ST MERCHANDISING 1977 7,259.00       39,678.00       BC-1 CB SR-80-19 100Ye 335,000.00$         640,000$          

12 3295 30TH ST RESTAURANTS 1969 6,896.00       36,417.00       BC-1 CB 500Ye 600,000.00$         822,000$          

13 3285 30TH ST TOTAL SCHOOL 1981 54,874.00     83,587.00       BC-1 1,410,300.00$      1,639,400$       

14 3300 28TH ST OFFICES 1982 16,983.00     119,046.00     BC-1 CB P-82-1, P-81-4, P-79-58 2,135,300.00$      1,706,500$       

15 3200 28TH ST AUTO DEALER 1996 39,881.00     129,952.00     IG HR 2,943,800.00$      3,265,900$       

420,965.00 1,442,639.00 21,747,600.00$ 24,857,900$ 

Attachment D
Diagonal Plaza Study Area

Building and Land Information
Source : Boulder County Assessor Records 

Total 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 17



Plot # Address Owner Name Owner In Care Of Owner Contact Owner Address 

1 2801 IRIS AV ACE SELF STORAGE PARTNERSHIP LLP Jack Lacy 1590 CRESS CT

BOULDER, CO 80302

2 2880 DIAGONAL HY AZTEC CORPORATION C/O GARDNER CARTON & DOUGLAS L 191 N WACKER DR STE 3700

CHICAGO, IL 60606

3 2960 DIAGONAL HY ELEVATIONS FEDERAL CREDIT UNION Gerry Agnes P.O. Box 9004

BOULDER, CO 80301

4 2990 DIAGONAL HY FILL N GO COMPANY INC Prasanna Sfrestfa 1461 MAGPIE CT

GOLDEN, CO 80403

5 3390 28TH ST SMELLAGE ROBERT H JR C/O THOMPSON TAX & ACCOUNTING 1735 MARKET ST  SUITE A 400

BOWLIN PROPERTIES LLC PHILADELPHIA, PA 19103

6 3320 - 3338 28TH ST CEDAR ENTERPRISES CORP RITE AID CORP/REAL ESTATE TAX PO BOX 3165

HARRISBURG, PA 17105-3165

7 2850 IRIS AV DIAGONAL LLC C/O HALBERT & ASSOC Larry D Burnett PO BOX 19622

East BOULDER, CO 80308

8 2850 IRIS AV ABS RM LEASE OWNER LLC 250 E PARK CENTER BLVD

West BOISE, ID 83726

9 2900 IRIS AV WAL PROPERTIES LLC 6345 NORTHWEST 23RD CT

BOCA RATON, FL 33496

10 3303 30TH ST R W RINDERKNECHT COMPANY John Rinderknecht 1777 HARRISON ST STE P2

DENVER, CO 80210

11 3395 30TH ST PISCIOTTA LARRY F UND 25 PCT & ETAL C/O BRIDGESTONE/FIRESTONE INC Larry Pisciotta 5500 E. QUINCY AVE.

CHERRY HILLS CO, 80113

12 3295 30TH ST EVANS CLAUD R TRUSTEE C/O CORK AND CLEAVER Doug Evans 1278 S Chambers Rd.

AURORA, CO 80017-4046

13 3285 30TH ST NAROPA UNIVERSITY Sandy Goldman 2130 ARAPAHOE AVE

BOULDER, CO 80302

14 3300 28TH ST REM INVESTMENT LLC John Schwartz 2121 S ONEIDA ST STE 635

HILGERS FAMILY TRUST ET AL DENVER, CO 80224

15 3200 28TH ST 3200 LLC Harris Faberman 6800 N 79TH ST UNIT 200

NIWOT, CO 80503

Attachment E
Diagonal Plaza - Owner Info

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 18



 

Attachment F 
 
 
Redeveloping Diagonal Plaza as a Green Retail District 
PRELIMINARY CRITERIA FOR SUCCESS / Working Draft July 2010 
 
Goal: Establish a new paradigm for the design, development and management of 
community shopping centers in Boulder in manner that advances our community’s goals 
related to economic, social and environmental sustainability. 
 
Retail Uses / Sales Tax  
 Make the highest and best use of a significant area of commercially zoned land 

(designated “community business” in the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan) 
 Prioritize retail uses that meet unmet needs in the existing mix of retail opportunities 

in Boulder 
 
Connectivity 
 Extend the street grid and pedestrian/bicycle connections to and through the site so 

that it functions as part of an area rather than an island 
 Create clear relationships between the shopping area and adjacent uses and 

neighborhoods 
 
Public Space 
 Create a “there” there—a destination civic space where people can congregate and 

spend time apart from “just shopping” 
 Create active, lively street frontages 
 Avoid large surface parking lots 
 Incorporate public art 
 
Mixed Use Neighborhood District 
 Incorporate other uses in the site, particularly housing, potentially in the form of 

live/work spaces that could contribute toward the district’s commercial life, create 
affordability, and provide a housing type not widely available elsewhere in the city 

 
Environmental Sustainability 
 Incorporate comprehensive transportation demand management strategies to provide 

incentives for use of alternative transportation modes for people traveling to the site, 
including walking, biking and transit 

 Incorporate renewable energy sources to the maximum extent feasible, including 
active and passive solar and ground source cooling/heating with the goal of creating a 
net-zero development 

 Use low impact development techniques to manage storm water onsite 
 Incorporate significant landscaping to reduce heat island effects, manage storm water, 

and contribute to the district’s attractiveness and livability 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 19



 

Final Report 

Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared for: 
 
City of Boulder 
 
 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 

with: 
OZ Architecture | Scott, Cox & Associates | RRC Associates 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 23, 2010 
 
 
 
 

EPS #20857 

            Attachment G

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 20



 

 

Table of Contents 

1. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF FINDINGS.................................................................. 1 

Background..............................................................................................................1 

Scope of Work ..........................................................................................................4 

Limitations ...............................................................................................................4 

Summary of Findings ................................................................................................5 

2. REDEVELOPMENT SCENARIOS.................................................................................... 8 

Site Reconnaissance..................................................................................................8 

Development Scenarios ........................................................................................... 10 

3. ECONOMIC AND MARKET ASSESSMENT....................................................................... 19 

Market Assessment ................................................................................................. 19 

Economic Benefit .................................................................................................... 24 

Residential Market .................................................................................................. 26 

4. DEVELOPMENT FEASIBILITY .................................................................................... 28 

Development Program............................................................................................. 28 

Project Costs .......................................................................................................... 30 

Project Revenues .................................................................................................... 32 

Development Feasibility ........................................................................................... 33 

5. REDEVELOPMENT OPTIONS..................................................................................... 35 

Public Financing Mechanisms.................................................................................... 35 

Public Financing Revenue Potential............................................................................ 36 

Redevelopment Financial Feasibility........................................................................... 38 

Sensitivity Analysis ................................................................................................. 39 

Implementation Options .......................................................................................... 40 

Other Considerations............................................................................................... 41 

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 21



 

 

List of Tables 

Table 1  Existing Parcels................................................................................................2 

Table 2  Retailer Potential............................................................................................ 22 

Table 3  Estimated Net New Sales ................................................................................ 25 

Table 4  Boulder Housing Unit Permits, 2000-2010 ......................................................... 26 

Table 5  Residential Demand Forecast, 2011-2020 ......................................................... 27 

Table 6  Development Program .................................................................................... 29 

Table 7  Cost Summary............................................................................................... 31 

Table 8  Total Project Revenues ................................................................................... 33 

Table 9  Development Feasibility .................................................................................. 34 

Table 10  Public Financing Potentials .............................................................................. 37 

Table 11  Project Feasibility with Public Financing............................................................. 38 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 22



 

 

List of Figures 

Figure 1 Diagonal Plaza Study Area..................................................................................3 

Figure 2 Opportunities and Constraints.............................................................................9 

Figure 3 Scenario 1 – Commercial Only Redevelopment Site Plan ...................................... 11 

Figure 4 Scenario 1 – Commercial Only Redevelopment Illustrative Site Plan ...................... 12 

Figure 5 Scenario 2 – Horizontal Mixed Use Redevelopment Site Plan................................. 14 

Figure 6 Scenario 2 – Horizontal Mixed Use Redevelopment Illustrative Site Plan................. 15 

Figure 7 Scenario 3 – Vertical Mixed Use Redevelopment Site Plan .................................... 17 

Figure 8 Scenario 3 – Vertical Mixed Use Redevelopment Illustrative Site Plan .................... 18 

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 23



Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 1 20857_rpt_092310.doc 

1. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

This report summarizes the analysis and conclusions of Economic & Planning Systems (EPS) 
regarding the initial redevelopment feasibility of the Diagonal Plaza Shopping Center and 
adjacent properties in Boulder, Colorado.  The study was performed under a contract dated 
September 2010 between the City and EPS and including subconsultants OZ Architecture, Scott, 
Cox & Associates, and RRC Associates. 

Backg round  

The City of Boulder is focused on infill and redevelopment of underperforming and underutilized 
properties such as Diagonal Plaza in the urban core as a means of avoiding sprawl and 
addressing important community needs.  Diagonal Plaza has been previously identified as one of 
the few remaining sites in the urban core for regional retail commercial uses.  The recent loss of 
the anchor grocer and several other key tenants, the related decline in retail sales, and the for-
sale listing of a portion of the shopping center are all indicative that the existing shopping 
center’s value has declined and that redevelopment options may be potentially viable.   

The primary Diagonal Plaza property is a 250,000 square foot community level shopping center 
on 20 acres formerly anchored by Albertson’s and Sports Authority.  Originally built in the 1960s, 
the center has been modified and added onto over the years.  The most recent addition, built in 
1995, included 117,000 square feet comprised of two mass merchandisers (formerly Ross and 
PetSmart) as well as additional inline retail space facing east towards 30th Street.  The primary 
center is comprised of five separate parcels with three additional pad sites, each under separate 
ownership. 

The City defined an initial study area surrounding the aging center extending from the Diagonal 
Highway (SH 119) south to Glenwood Street and from 28th Street east to 30th Street as shown on 
Figure 1.  The study area contains approximately 657,000 square feet of buildings on 15 parcels 
of land totaling 33.12 acres as shown in Table 1.  The study area has experienced increasing 
vacancies and declining retail sales and sales tax revenues.  Total annual sales tax revenues 
have declined by 28 percent of the last two years, from $674,000 in 2007 to $484,000 in 2009. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 24



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 2 Final Report 

Table 1  
Existing Parcels 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Parcel Address Description Size (Acres) Size (Sq. Ft.) Bldg Size Year Built Zoning

1 2801 IRIS AV Ace Self Storage 0.24 10,591 2,707 1960 BC-1
2 2880 DIAGONAL HY Bar and Grill 1.87 81,448 10,322 1979 BC-1
3 2960 DIAGONAL HY Credit Union 2.49 108,584 44,301 1995 BC-1
4 2990 DIAGONAL HY Gas Station 0.59 25,725 1,961 1969 BC-1
5 3390 28TH ST Mexican Restaurant 1.12 48750 5902 1975 BC-1
6 3320 - 3338 28TH ST Rite Aid/Sports Authority 6.70 291,901 48,968 1965 BC-1
7 2850 IRIS AV Mall 1.83 79,871 25,089 1983 BC-1
8 2850 IRIS AV 0.97 42,408 0 0 BC-1
9 2900 IRIS AV Albertsons 2.22 96,912 38,226 1973 BC-1
10 3303 30TH ST PetSmart/Ross/Vics 5.69 247,772 117,596 1995 BC-1
11 3395 30TH ST Firestone 0.91 39,679 7,259 1977 BC-1
12 3295 30TH ST Cork 0.84 36,417 6,896 1969 BC-1
13 3285 30TH ST Naropa 1.92 83,587 54,874 1981 BC-1
14 3300 28TH ST Office 2.73 119046.9708 16983 1982 BC-1
15 3200 28TH ST Dealership 2.98 129,952 39,881 1996 IG

Total 33.12 1,442,646 420,965
Redevelopment Site Total 23.48 1,022,920 310,943

Source: Economic & Planning Systems; City of Boulder

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Models\[20857-Diagonal Plaza Financial Model.xls]A-Study Area Summary  

Based on an analysis of property area conditions, the project team defined a slightly smaller 
project area that excludes five of the parcels with more stable existing uses.  The project area 
comprised of 10 of the 15 parcels totaling 23.48 acres as shown.   

The City requested a focused and discrete feasibility analysis of three scenarios: 1) retail big box 
or mid box development; 2) horizontal mixed use with a mix of retail and residential uses; and  
3) vertical mixed use containing both retail and residential uses for the specific purpose of 
determining the feasibility of redevelopment options.  Given the complexity of the site uses, 
ownership, and estimated property values, it is expected that urban renewal would be required 
to assemble the property and to provide public financing assistance to the project.  The property 
could be assembled by the urban renewal authority and sold to a master developer.  Alternatively, 
a developer could assemble the land with City assistance. 

In either case, development costs will include site acquisition and assembly; on and off-site 
infrastructure; and demolition and remediation.  The revenue analysis will quantify the 
supportable land values for parcel sales and value of vertical development based on the net 
operating income from potential leases in the identified development programs in each scenario.  
A planning level pro forma is used to estimate project feasibility returns using accepted 
measures of financial return for purposes of comparison.  The financial model also determines if 
there is a financing gap to achieve an acceptable developer return and identify the amount of 
public financing needed to close the gap. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 25



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 3 Final Report 

Figure 1 Diagonal Plaza Study Area 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 26



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 4 Final Report 

Scope  o f  W ork  

The EPS Team conducted an initial economic and financial analysis of the three development 
scenarios to make a preliminary determination of feasibility and relative level of benefits under 
each option.  The following major tasks were completed in the course of the one month long study. 

• Redevelopment Scenarios – OZ Architecture and SCA evaluated site and area conditions 
as well as identified opportunities and constraints.  Based on both physical and economic 
conditions, the project team then identified the parcels to be included in the three scenarios 
and created a base map for project.  The project team, with input and review from City staff, 
developed a site plan and building program for the three defined redevelopment scenarios.  
OZ also provided an urban design concept for each scenario. 

• Economic and Market Assessment – EPS conducted a limited update of large and mid 
format retail/commercial development opportunities for Boulder and the Diagonal Plaza site 
from the Boulder Regional Retail Strategy report completed in 2005.  The potential benefits 
of the major potential tenants were then determined based on estimates of net new retail 
sales and related sales tax revenues to the City.  Market potentials for residential uses were 
updated from studies completed for the City in 2008 on the Boulder Transit Village Plan. 

• Development Feasibility – EPS developed a planning level pro forma financial model and 
evaluated the feasibility of the three scenarios.  The analysis estimates related development 
costs and future development value based on market sales and lease rates of the vertical 
development program, as well as determines project returns and needed levels of public 
financing. 

• Redevelopment Options – Based on the market and feasibility analysis, the project team 
identified the potential redevelopment options available to the City and provides its analysis 
of the benefits and risks associated with each course of action.  The implementation options 
available to the City are also summarized. 

L im i ta t ions  

The accuracy of a financial feasibility analysis is dependent on the level of detail in the defined 
development program inputs related to project costs, revenues, and timing.  This study is an 
initial planning level analysis for the primary purpose of identifying feasible redevelopment 
options for the Diagonal Plaza property.  A limited amount of site analysis and planning was 
conducted for the purpose of defining the three discernibly different scenarios for evaluation and 
testing.  If the City decides to proceed with establishing an urban renewal area to facilitate the 
redevelopment of the area, a blight study will be required to document conditions of blight and 
determine the eligible parcels and the appropriate URA boundary as defined by CRS 31-25-103.  
The formation of an URA would also require the City to complete an urban renewal plan.  This 
plan would include more comprehensive site analysis and planning, including consideration of a 
full range of development alternatives and approaches. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 27



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 5 Final Report 

Summa ry  o f  F ind ings  

1. The Diagonal Plaza site has the potential to accommodate between 169,000 and 
243,000 square feet of retail, 192,000 to 490,000 square feet of residential, and a 
52,000 square foot hotel (136 rooms). 

Based on the redevelopment goals identified by the City, the EPS team developed three 
redevelopment plans featuring a range of development magnitude.  Scenario 1 (Commercial 
Only) features 243,000 square feet of retail uses and a 52,000 square foot hotel served by 
surface parking.  Scenario 2 (Horizontal Mixed Use) features 180,000 square feet of retail 
space, 192,000 square feet of residential (160 units) and a 52,000 square foot hotel.  Both 
the retail and hotel are surfaced parked, while the residential includes structured parking.  
Scenario 3 (Vertical Mixed Use) features a higher density mix of 169,000 square feet of 
retail, 490,000 square feet of residential (402 units), and a 52,000 square foot hotel.  This 
scenario features a mix of surface, structured, and underground parking.  Office uses could 
be substituted for retail and residential uses in Scenarios 2 and 3 based on changing market 
conditions and demand. 

2. The Diagonal Plaza site is currently a community level retail site with limited appeal 
to more regional retail uses. 

Regional retail uses in Boulder are concentrated in a ½ mile square area from 28th on the 
west to 30th on the east and from Arapahoe on the south to Pearl on the north.  The 
Diagonal Plaza study area is located outside this area about one mile to the north.  The 
Diagonal Plaza location currently serves a two to three mile radius, rather than the larger 
regional trade area, and does not command the same uses or rent levels as are present 
further south.  Despite this fact, due to a limited supply of suitable sites, some prospective 
tenants and anchors would be willing to consider locating at Diagonal Plaza.  These tenants 
would not, however, be willing to pay a premium for the site, nor would they be willing to 
invest in extraordinary site costs such as structured parking. 

3. A redeveloped Diagonal Plaza site would be attractive to a limited number of larger 
format stores interested in access to the Boulder market. 

There are three anchor stores, Lowe’s, Wal-Mart, and King Soopers Marketplace with an 
expressed interest in the Boulder market that would consider the Diagonal Plaza location.  
Based on store criteria as well as broker and tenant input, Sam’s Club, Kohl’s, and JCPenney 
are also possible anchor tenants.  The larger format stores are a destination anchor use and 
can therefore attract customers to more peripheral locations, such as the Diagonal Plaza site.  
These anchor stores range in size from 88,000 to 125,000 square feet and most often 
purchase vacant property to develop their own store.  

4. Diagonal Plaza could also potentially attract a number of mid box mass 
merchandisers given the number of store options and the lack of competitive sites. 

The dynamics surrounding the development of mid box stores at this location are more 
complicated.  If there is a large format anchor, it increases the potential for the co-location of 
additional mid box stores.  A department store anchor is likely to attract apparel and home 
furnishings stores as synergistic uses.  Wal-Mart is a less attractive anchor for most mid 
boxes. Absent a large format anchor, the ability to attract the smaller mass merchandisers is 
primarily a function of critical mass and co-tenancy.  In power centers, mass merchandisers 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 28



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 6 Final Report 

can be found in increments of three to five stores.  In supermarket anchored community 
shopping centers, there can be two to three mid box stores similar to the tenant mix 
previously found at Diagonal Plaza.  As a result of co-tenancy, it is difficult to predict with 
any certainty the future opportunity for retail development at a site with undetermined costs 
and anchor tenants.  Although many of the potential mass merchandisers are already in 
Boulder, there are nine identified stores with at least a Medium probability ranking.  Some 
will locate in existing spaces; however, there will be other potential tenants that arise and 
become opportunities for the site that have not been identified at this time. 

5. The retail anchor stores with highest potential fail to generate the desired levels of 
economic benefits to the City as measured by net new sales tax revenues.  

Total retail sales need to be reduced to account for non taxable sales from food and sales 
transfers (cannibalization) in order to estimate the net new sales tax to the City.  The 
Medium and High potential anchor tenants generate approximately $200,000 to $600,000 in 
new sales tax revenues per year.  Only Costco would exceed these estimates, however 
Costco is a Low probability option over the next five years at a minimum. 

6. Scenario 1: Commercial Only Redevelopment is not feasible even with the 
maximum public investment package applied. 

The Commercial Only scenario is not feasible as tested.  At a targeted 15 percent return over 
cost, the project has an estimated deficit of $41 million. Even with a maximum public 
financing investment package, additional sensitivity testing of lower land prices and higher 
property sales rates are insufficient to address the size of the gap.  The land price would 
need to be significantly lower and the increment of additional development density would 
need to be greater to overcome the current deficit.  Proceeding with Scenario 1 would require 
substantial investment from other City funds. 

7. Scenario 2: Horizontal Mixed Use Redevelopment is also not feasible even with a 
full public financing package. 

Scenario 2 faces similar financial challenges as Scenario 1 as it does not add enough additional 
development density to support the estimated acquisition and development costs.  The project 
revenue, including vertical development value, is not sufficient to achieve feasibility at the 
estimated acquisition prices resulting in a $29 million gap.  Financial feasibility would require 
an acquisition cost of $25 per square foot or lower combined with an aggressive public 
financing package.  Similar to Scenario 1, in order to achieve financial feasibility under base 
case acquisition costs, the City will likely need to tap into other City funds. 

8. Scenario 3: Vertical Mixed Use Redevelopment is financially feasible with tax 
increment financing. 

Scenario 3, as tested, achieves a positive developer return of $12 million (9 percent over 
costs) but is shy of the identified required developer return of 15 percent.  The addition of 
public financing results in a financially feasible project.  Scenario 3 requires the least level of 
financial subsidy of all the scenarios.  Under the base case land cost assumption ($38 per 
square foot), only property TIF is required to overcome the feasibility gap.  At a land cost 
assumption of $45 per square foot, feasibility can be achieved using 100 percent of property 
TIF, a 20 mill Metro District and a 0.5 percent PIF. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 29



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 7 Final Report 

9. Although Scenario 3 works from a financial perspective, it may not prove to be 
viable as tested from a market perspective. 

Scenario 3 is the most feasible as tested on a static basis.  However, the amount, type, and 
configuration of retail development are unproven and would require additional planning 
analysis to refine the development mix.  Also, this level of retail development would require 
an extended period of absorption and lease up, and tested overtime using an annual cash flow 
model would impact its feasibility.  The mixed use village concept meets more of the City’s 
urban design objectives, but may not be able to attract significant regional retail uses, and 
therefore may sacrifice the City’s economic development objectives.  The City should carefully 
evaluate whether the redevelopment of the property for its land use/urban design benefits, 
rather that economic development benefits, warrants a significant redevelopment investment. 

10. The City’s other implementation options include not pursuing redevelopment or 
property assembly on an incremental basis. 

If the City decides to do nothing, it is likely that the major vacant spaces in the shopping 
center and on the peripheral pad sites will be re-leased to other users due to the limited 
supply of significant commercial space in the City.  The center is an older commercial 
property in the mature years of the real estate investment cycle.  Typically, these older 
properties are leased to lower rent uses and continue to decline in quality and value until 
which time significant reinvestment and/or redevelopment are feasible.  This pattern of real 
estate decline and reinvestment is likely to take place slower in Boulder than it would in a 
less constrained market.  However, future tenants are likely to make some level of 
investment to utilize the property that will extend its useful life, similar to the lease of 
Albertson’s to 24 Hour Fitness.  In particular, the newer vacant mid box spaces formerly 
occupied by PetSmart and Ross will likely get reused within a two to three year time horizon 
given the overall lack of similar space in the City.  It is however hard to determine the quality 
of future tenants, the level of investment that might be made, and how long the useful life of 
the center might be extended. 

The City could also decide to take a more incremental approach to the development of the 
property.  Absent an overall development plan, and given the large number of separate 
property owners, a number of smaller redevelopment projects are likely to take place over 
time.  If these projects met economic development goals, and if they have a documented 
financial need, the City could consider the use of urban renewal and TIF on a more reactive 
project by project basis.  

Finally, the City could also consider further planning and analysis of the Scenario 3 option, 
which demonstrates that a denser mixed use project has the potential to be feasible.  The 
concept as developed, attempts to mix a number of mid box stores with residential and 
potentially office and live/work vertical uses.  If this concept meets the City’s objectives, a 
number of refinements could be tested including a more aggressive acquisition plan that 
increases density over the gross 0.7 FAR option tested, expands the size of the project area 
allowing for more development density, and refines the retail development program to create 
a better balance of mid box and ancillary retail space. 

 

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 30



Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 8 20857_rpt_092310.doc 

2. REDEVELOPMENT SCENARIOS 

This section summarizes the preliminary site analysis and the definition of the three scenarios for 
feasibility testing.  The project team first toured the study area and compared field conditions 
with the Assessor’s parcel data on existing land and building sizes, ownership and estimated 
market and assessed values.  An opportunities and constraints analysis was performed to identify 
the parcels to be included in the scenarios and to identify access, circulation, and utility conditions 
and requirements.  The three scenarios were then defined based on the market inputs (Section 
3), land use conditions, and applicable zoning.  All three scenarios were developed with the 
“criterion for success” outlined by the City regarding the redevelopment of Diagonal Plaza as a 
Green Retail District.  For each scenario, a site plan and urban design concept are provided for 
illustrative purposes.   

S i te  Reconna issanc e  

The project team conducted a field survey of the study area to identify opportunities and 
constraints and to define a project area for analysis as shown in Figure 2.  In terms of 
opportunities, the site is one of the last large parcels with the potential for redevelopment for 
larger scale redevelopment within the City.  It has excellent access from 28th, the Diagonal 
Highway (SH 119) and 30th street.  It is however, constrained by existing viable uses on some of 
the pad sites notably the Elevations (CU) Credit Union on the northeast corner and Cork’s 
Restaurant at the corner of 30th and Corona Trail.  The multitenant retail and office buildings on 
Parcel 14 have had recent improvements and are also assumed to be stable land uses.   

The project area for development of the three scenarios was therefore reduced to exclude these 
three parcels.  Because the vacant dealership at 28th and Glenwood Drive (Parcel 15) became an 
isolated outparcel, it was also excluded from the project area.  The actual definition of a potential 
urban renewal area will be subject to a blight study analysis should the City proceed in that 
direction.  The development area used for all three scenarios includes Parcels 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 
10, 11, and 13 with a total of approximately 23.5 acres of land.  It is assumed that the existing 
311,000 square feet of older commercial buildings would be demolished.

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 31



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 9 Final Report 

Figure 2 Opportunities and Constraints 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 32



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 10 Final Report 

Deve lopment  Scena r ios  

The City requested three scenarios developed for feasibility testing as follows: 

• Scenario 1: Commercial Only Redevelopment – A primary focus on retail development, 
including the addition of one or more big box or mid-box retail stores, with other commercial 
tenants. 

• Scenario 2: Horizontal Mixed Use Redevelopment – A redevelopment with new 
commercial development (which may include the addition of one or more box retail stores) 
and new residential development on the study area property. 

• Scenario 3: Vertical Mixed Use Redevelopment – A redevelopment with new commercial 
development (which may include the addition of one or more box retail stores) and new 
residential development on study area property and/or on upper levels of commercial uses. 

Scenario 1:  Commercial Only 

This scenario includes a total of 243,000 square feet of retail space comprised of two large 
format stores with 120,000 square feet and 88,000 square feet respectively.  It also includes a 
25,000 square foot mid box store and two 5,000 square foot pads as shown in the site plan in 
Figure 3.  The amount of commercial space is largely limited by the parking requirements which 
are defined by zoning at 1 space per 300 square feet of use.  A 136-room hotel with 52,000 
square feet is planned for Parcel 13 (currently the Naropa School building). Additional hotels are an 
identified market need in the 28th Street corridor and can be developed as a pad use in a shopping 
center development. The hotel is placed adjacent to the existing Cork Restaurant which is a 
complementary use. The site development features of the site plan are summarized below and 
also illustrated on the urban design concept in Figure 4. 

• Landscape/Gateway element at northwest corner of site. 

• Connectivity: Provides limited vehicular and pedestrian connectivity in relation to N. 28th 
Street Transportation Network Plan (TNP). 

• Incorporates 29th Street extension north from Glenwood per the N. 28th Street TNP. 

• Promenade located on axis with proposed north-south pedestrian path. 

• Assumes hotel will share 100 parking spaces with surface commercial spaces off-setting 
parking demands. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 33



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 11 Final Report 

Figure 3 Scenario 1 – Commercial Only Redevelopment Site Plan 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 34



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 12 Final Report 

Figure 4 Scenario 1 – Commercial Only Redevelopment Illustrative Site Plan 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 35



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 13 Final Report 

Scenario 2: Horizontal Mixed Use 

This scenario includes a total of 424,000 square feet of buildable space comprised of 180,000 
square feet of retail space, 160 housing units with 192,000 square feet of space, and a 136 room 
hotel with 52,000 square feet of space as shown in Figure 5. 

The retail space includes an 88,000 square foot large format store and adjacent 30,000 square 
foot junior anchor oriented to the west.  The 28th Street frontage contains two smaller 20,000 
square foot mid boxes to frame the street front and mitigate the impact of the large required 
parking fields.  There is also 16,000 square feet of in-line retail built as a small “main street” on 
the front door entry to the retail portion of the site, and 6,000 square feet on the south side of 
the mid box to activate the adjacent plaza. 

The eastern 30th Street frontage is developed with a 160 unit residential building with a 
freestanding parking garage interior to the site serving the residential uses only.  Similar to 
Scenario1, a 136-room hotel with 52,000 square feet is planned for Parcel 13 adjacent to the 
existing Cork Restaurant shown to remain in this scenario.  The site development features of the 
site plan are summarized below and also illustrated on the urban design concept in Figure 6. 

• Landscape/Gateway element at northwest corner of site. 

• Provides improved vehicular connectivity by extending 29th Street north to Iris. 

• Plaza is aligned with the north-south path per the N. 28th Street TNP. 

• In line retail shops face onto plaza and provide pedestrian interest (e.g., coffee, small 
restaurant, outdoor dining, or farmer’s market) and community gathering space. 

• Circle at east end of Corona slows traffic adjacent to plaza. 

• High Density residential on east side of site provides a “face” onto 30th Street, responding to 
the senior housing residential uses to the east. 

• Assumes hotel will share 100 parking spaces with surface commercial spaces (off-setting 
parking demands). 

• 600 surface parking spaces provided for retail.  High Density residential parking provided in a 
2.5 level structure. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 36



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 14 Final Report 

Figure 5 Scenario 2 – Horizontal Mixed Use Redevelopment Site Plan 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 37



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 15 Final Report 

Figure 6 Scenario 2 – Horizontal Mixed Use Redevelopment Illustrative Site Plan 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 38



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 16 Final Report 

Scenario 3: Vertical Mixed Use 

This scenario includes a total of 711,000 square feet of building area comprised of 169,000 
square feet of retail space; 358 multifamily and 44 townhouse housing units totaling 490,000 
square feet; and a 136 room hotel with 52,000 square feet of space.  The primary focus is mixed 
use development and creating an urban pedestrian oriented street grid as shown in Figure 7. 

The project includes four mid box retailers totaling 98,500 square feet and ranging in size from 
17,000 to 42,000 square feet.  The project also includes 70,500 square feet of smaller retail users.  
The retail frontage includes a 22,500 square foot junior anchor and two 4,000 square foot pads 
along the 28th Street frontage.  The interior is lined with three story mixed use buildings in a main 
street format along the primary south entryway lining up with Corona Trail.  This includes 16,000 
square feet of ground floor retail below two-story townhouses facing two larger residential mixed 
use buildings.  The first features a first level junior anchor and the second contains 30,000 
square feet of ancillary retail space.   

The residential component of the project includes 44 upper level townhouses and 88 multifamily 
units on upper floors of mixed use buildings.  It also includes 250 housing units in two separate 
higher density projects fronting on 30th Street.  The 136 room hotel included in Scenarios 1 and 
2 is moved to the Diagonal Highway frontage (Parcels 1 and 2).  The urban design characteristics 
of this scenario are shown in Figure 8 and summarized below. 

• Landscape/Gateway element at northwest corner of site. 

• Open space between small retail pads on 28th Street provide opportunity to celebrate 28th 
Street pedestrian crossing, aligned on axis with east/west Safeway “promenade”. 

• Plaza is aligned with north-south pedestrian path (per N. 28th Street TNP). 

• In line retail shops face onto plaza and provide pedestrian interest (coffee, small restaurant, 
outdoor dining, farmers market, etc.) and community gathering space. 

• Fine grain internal street system maximizes vehicular and pedestrian connectivity. 

• Circles on main entry street (Corona extended) serve to slow vehicle speeds. 

• First floor retail uses flank main entry to site from 28th Street (Corona extended). 

• Parking for mixed use is accommodated in surface, on street parallel and diagonal spaces and 
in parking structures, both free standing and under buildings in two of the mixed use blocks.   

• Parking for high density residential provided in parking structure (north residential block on 
30th Street) and under building parking (south residential block on 30th Street). 

• High Density residential on east side of site provides a “face” onto 30th Street, responding to 
the Senior Housing residential uses to the east. 

• Hotel located at north end of site along Diagonal, providing increased visibility.   

• Assumes hotel will share 91 spaces in the adjacent parking garage (off-setting parking 
demands).

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 39



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 17 Final Report 

Figure 7 Scenario 3 – Vertical Mixed Use Redevelopment Site Plan 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 40



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 18 Final Report 

Figure 8 Scenario 3 – Vertical Mixed Use Redevelopment Illustrative Site Plan 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 41



Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 19 20857_rpt_092310.doc 

3. ECONOMIC AND MARKET ASSESSMENT  

This section updates EPS’ assessment of mid and large format national retailer opportunities for 
the Boulder market and specifically for the Diagonal Plaza site.  This information is based on 
direct contacts with retailers and tenant brokers to update data contained in the Boulder 
Regional Retail Strategy Report from 2005.  It also includes market and development inputs on 
the value of residential, office, and hotel uses as input to the development programming for the 
three scenarios.  In addition to the identification of supportable retail uses, the economic benefits 
of specific tenants and uses are estimated based on the potential to generate net new retail sales 
activity and related sales tax revenues. 

Market  Assessment  

The primary concentration of regional retail uses in Boulder is located from 28th on the west to 
30th on the east and from Arapahoe on the south to Pearl on the north.  Within this roughly ½ 
mile square area are the majority of the City’ s existing national regional retail centers and 
tenants including the recently developed Twenty Ninth Street project and a number of smaller 
shopping centers and freestanding stores.  The Diagonal Plaza study area is located 
approximately 1 mile north of Pearl Street and not part of this primary shopping area.  From the 
perspective of the retail brokerage community, the Diagonal Plaza location is more of a 
community level retail site serving a two to three mile trade area and not a regional site serving 
the entire City and surrounding areas.  It currently does not attract the same uses or rent levels 
as are present further to the south. 

Because of the lack of sites to accommodate larger retail uses within the City, some prospective 
tenants and anchors would be willing to consider locating at Diagonal Plaza as noted in the 
tenant evaluation below.  Although it is premature to talk about specific land and lease rates, a 
number of the users willing to consider the Diagonal Plaza location/site added the following types 
of caveats - they would be unwilling to pay a premium for the site, or they would not be willing 
to invest in extraordinary site costs (e.g. structured parking). 

Large Format Stores 

EPS contacted retail tenant representatives and brokers for seven large format stores active in 
the Front Range regarding their interest in the Boulder market and their potential interest in the 
Diagonal Plaza location should the property be cleared, assembled, and available in the near 
future (estimated at approximately three years).  Because this project is at this point 
hypothetical and several years into the future, it is only possible to solicit unofficial comments.  
Based on comments received, including in some cases from multiple sources, EPS has 
characterized the potential for each anchor as a Low, Medium, or High potential opportunity with 
Low being a 25 percent +/- probability and Medium as a 50 percent +/- probability.  A retailer 
rated High indicates that it is interested in the market and have indicated it would be willing to 
locate at Diagonal Plaza if price, terms, and conditions met its criteria. 

There are at least nine large format stores active in the Boulder trade area in the Warehouse/ 
Superstore, Discount Department Store, and Home Improvement Center categories reviewed, as 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 42



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 20 Final Report 

shown in Table 2.  With a population of approximately 100,000, the City of Boulder, for most of 
these anchor stores, is a one store market.  Home Depot has a new store at Twenty Ninth Street 
and Target has a recently expanded store so these retailers are not considered prospects.  The 
remaining seven large format stores are reviewed below.   

Wal-Mart (High) – Wal-Mart has long been interested in a Boulder store, having proposed as 
store at 28th and Jay in 2005.  They would be interested in building a store in the 90,000 to 
120,000 square foot range for a standard one-story discount store (not a supercenter).  A 
supercenter, if adequate land were available, would be in the 160,000 to 180,000 square foot 
range.  They would want to own their own site and would not be willing to do structured parking 
at this location nor would they be willing to pay a major premium for the land. 

Sam’s Club (Medium) – This is a membership warehouse owned by Wal-Mart.  Based primarily 
on previous interest in the 28th and Jay site, they are considered a medium prospect for a 
Boulder store and for the Diagonal Plaza location.  The average store is 125,000 square feet. 

Costco (Low) – The average Costco store is 150,000 square feet and requires a 14 acre site.  
Average store sales are approximately $130 million a year ($838 per square foot) making it one 
of the highest grossing retail stores in the market.  The prospects for a Boulder store have not 
improved since the 2005 market study.  At that time, the Superior store captured an estimated 
30 percent of its sales from the City of Boulder residents and the store was performing at or 
above average sales levels.  The Larkridge store at I-25 and E-470 in Thornton, which opened in 
2007, and the overall economy, has resulted in a modest reduction of sales in the Superior store.  
A second location in the Boulder market would not be a priority until Superior sales levels increase 
to a level that could sustain a loss of $30 million or more to the new store.  Knowledgeable 
brokers representing Costco in the Colorado market also noted the retailer has added three new 
stores in Colorado in the last 18 months and is waiting for these stores to mature before 
considering future opportunities.   

Kohl’s (Medium) – This discount department store markets to younger families and teens.  
They typically locate in outer ring suburbs and avoid inner city locations.  They are one of the 
few national retailers with an aggressive expansion schedule in 2010 planning for 30 new stores.  
The typical store is 88,000 square feet with smaller 68,000 square foot stores in markets of 
100,000 to 150,000 population and 125,000 in metro markets exceeding 500,000.  Interest in 
Boulder has not been confirmed but is considered a Medium prospect given their location criteria 
and expansion plans. 

JCPenney (Medium) – This traditional mall department store anchor has been aggressively 
seeking off-mall locations to compete head-to-head with Kohl’s.  Their national expansion plans 
remain modest over the 2010 to 2012 time period.  They indicated they would be willing to look 
at the Boulder market in the 2013 to 2014 time period if this site were available.  Among their 
caveats were concerns about the remoteness of the Diagonal Plaza location, land costs, and 
Boulder income levels, which are higher than their target demographic.  The typical off-mall 
store is 85,000 to 95,000 square feet in a one-story building either in a freestanding location or 
a lifestyle center.  JCPenney acquired vacant Alco stores in 2008 and opened stores in Longmont 
and Fort Collins.   

Lowe’s (High) – This home improvement center has expressed an interest in the Boulder 
market and the Diagonal Plaza location and is therefore a High prospect.  The typical store is 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 43



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 21 Final Report 

about 117,000 square feet but will build in the 94,000 to 103,000 square foot range if there are 
site constraints.  They are not interested in two-story formats or structured parking in this market.  
It has no qualms about a location near to Home Depot, which is located in Twenty Ninth Street. 

King Soopers Marketplace (High) – King Soopers (a division of Kroger Foods) remains 
interested in a north Boulder location and would consider the Diagonal Plaza property if 
available; they are therefore a High prospect.  They currently have two Boulder stores that are 
performing 20 to 25 percent above industry averages and consider the market underserved for 
traditional grocery stores.  They would be interested in building a Marketplace, which is Kroger’s 
version of a supercenter with about 125,000 square feet.  This format includes both grocery and 
dry good items similar to a Target Super center or Wal-Mart Superstore.  If the site were not 
large enough, they would build a full-sized grocery store of 65,000 to 70,000 square feet. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 44



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 22 Final Report 

Table 2  
Retailer Potential 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

In Boulder Potential Comments
Retailer (# of Stores) (Low, Med., High)

Large Format
Target 1 Low
Wal-Mart 0 High
Sam's Club 0 Med
Kohls 0 Med
Costco 0 Low 5 years out at minimum
Lowe's 0 High
Home Depot 1 Low
King Soopers Marketplace 2 High Supermarket or Marketplace
JC Penney 0 Med Not before 2013

Mid-size Format
Apparel

TJ Maxx 0 Med
Ross 1 Low
Marshalls 1 Low
Stein Mart 0 Low
DSW 0 Low
Off Broadway Shoes 0 Low
Forever 21 0 Low Mall or downtown sites
Babys R Us 0 Med Closest store in Westminster
Old Navy 0 Med

Appliances/Electronics
Ultimate Electronics 1 Med Relocation
Best Buy 1 Low
Micro Center 0 Low Typically one store per metro area

Books/Music/Toys
Barnes & Noble 1 Low
Borders 1 Low
Toys-R-Us 0 Med

Home Furnishings
HomeGoods (TJ Maxx) 0 Med
Pier I 1 Low
Bed, Bath & Beyond 1 Low
Container Store 0 Med New store at FlatIron Mall
Cost Plus 1 Low

Office Supplies
Office Depot 1 Low
Office Max 1 Low
Staples 1 Low

Sporting Goods
Sport Authority 1 High Expanded store
Dick's 0 Low Too far from CU
REI 1 Med Relocation and expansion

Pets
Petsmart 1 Low
Petco 1 Low

Arts and Crafts
Hobby Lobby 0 Med Typically existing space
Michaels 1 Low
Jo Ann Fabrics 1 Low

Source: Economic & Planning Systems

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Data\[20857-Tenant Survey.xls]2010 Potential  

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 45



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 23 Final Report 

Mass Merchandisers 

EPS has also updated the list of potential mid-box mass merchandiser prospects from the 2005 
market study to reflect changes in the status of each chain and any changes in Boulder or 
competitive area locations.  The status of each is estimated based on previous contacts, 
additional broker interviews, and published market data on the location criteria and expansion 
plans of each chain.  No direct tenant contacts have been made to date. 

There is a wide array of mass merchandiser stores in the 20,000 to 40,000 square foot range in 
the apparel, home furnishings, sporting goods, electronics, and book/music store categories.  
Similar to the big box discounters, these stores focus on high volume and low prices but in 
narrower product lines.  These stores can serve as junior anchors in lifestyle centers like Twenty 
Ninth Street, locate in groups of three or more like type tenants in power centers, or be sited as 
freestanding stores within urban downtown areas.  Table 2 lists 30 major national mid box mass 
merchandisers active in the Boulder regional market.  A total of 18 are already present in 
Boulder and most of the remaining chains are located in nearby in Superior or Broomfield 
(FlatIron).  Only one store, Sports Authority is rated a High prospect because they are already on 
site and area a candidate for a replacement or larger store.  EPS estimates that 7 out of the 
remaining 12 could be characterized as Medium prospects within a three year time horizon if 
suitable sites were available, as described by store category below. 

• Apparel - Two of the most prominent off price apparel stores, Ross and Marshalls, already 
have Boulder stores and are unlikely candidates.  TJ Maxx, Babies R Us, and Old Navy do not 
currently have Boulder stores and are therefore at reasonable possibilities.  Area brokers 
report that DSW and Off Broadway Shoes do not like the Boulder market due to its casual 
and less formal dress orientation.  Forever 21 is a rapidly expanding teens and twenties 
oriented apparel store but they prefer mall or urban downtown locations. 

• Appliance and Electronics – Boulder is relatively well served in this category.  Best Buy, 
the dominant national force in this category has a relatively new store on 30th.  Ultimate 
Electronics, a Denver based regional chain, has an underperforming store on 28th that is 
expected to vacate its current space.  One possibility is Micro Center, a new computer 
superstore that has its only Denver metro area outlet near the Tech Center.  They are 
considered a Low prospect because, with the exception of Atlanta, they have only opened 
one store in each metro market. 

• Books, Music, Toys – Both Barnes and Noble and Borders have relatively new stores in 
Boulder.  The books and music store market is especially challenged by internet competition 
and changing consumer needs.  There may be a potential for a Toys-R-Us as there is 
currently none in Boulder.   

• Home Furnishings – A number of stores including Bed Bath & Beyond, Pier 1, and Cost Plus 
have a Boulder presence.  Among the potential candidates not already in the market are 
HomeGoods (owned by TJ Maxx) and The Container Store, both of which are considered 
Medium prospects. 

• Office Supplies – The three major chains Office Depot, Office Max, and Staples are all 
present and accounted for in the Boulder market. 

• Sporting Goods – Sports Authority currently has a store at Diagonal Plaza and can be 
considered a candidate for a new and potentially larger store.  Its major competitor, Dick’s 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 46



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 24 Final Report 

Sporting Goods is not present in Boulder, but a tenant broker representative indicated the 
Diagonal Plaza site is too far from the university market.  REI has an undersized Boulder 
store and may be a prospect for a larger store in the 30,000 square foot range and is 
therefore rated a Medium prospect. 

• Pets – PetSmart had a store at Diagonal that relocated on 30th and Walnut next to Ross.  
Petco also has a Boulder location on Arapahoe and is therefore also a Low prospect. 

• Arts and Crafts – This category includes Michael’s (crafts) and JoAnn’s Fabrics, both of 
which have a Boulder store.  Hobby Lobby is craft store without a presence that could be a 
potential tenant, although they tend to located in older low rent strip centers. 

Retail Summary  

Based on our current assessment, the prospects for large format stores are somewhat stronger 
than for mid box stores.  There are three High potential and three Medium potential prospects for 
a store to be built in the next three years.  The larger format stores are a destination anchor use 
and can therefore attract customers to the more peripheral Diagonal Plaza location.   

The dynamics surrounding the development of mid box stores at this location are more 
complicated.  If there is a large format anchor, it increases the potential for the co-location of 
additional mid box stores.  A department store anchor is likely to attract apparel and home 
furnishings stores as synergistic uses.  Wal-Mart is a less attractive anchor for most of the big 
boxes and Costco, given its large market draw, would be attractive to a wide range of other 
discount tenants if there were adequate site area to fit them. 

Absent a large format anchor, the ability to attract the smaller mass merchandisers is primarily a 
function of critical mass and co-tenancy.  In power centers, they can be found in increments of 
three to five stores.  In supermarket anchored community shopping centers, there can be two to 
three stores similar to the tenant mix previously found at Diagonal Plaza. There area also other 
retail commercial uses that could potentially be attracted to this location including cinema and 
other entertainment functions. 

It is difficult to predict with any certainty retail development opportunities three years out for a 
site with undetermined costs and anchor tenants.  There will be new tenants looking by then and 
some of the existing store opportunities will have been met by other sites.  There will be two 
vacant mid boxes on 28th (Circuit City and Ultimate Electronics) available shortly that should be 
filled in the next three years.  However, there will be other potential tenants that arise and 
become opportunities for the site. 

Economic  Be ne f i t  

A separate but related question is, presuming there is a market for regional retail uses at this 
location, what are the economic benefits of investing in a redevelopment effort to attract and 
accommodate them? There are two potential benefits.  The first is providing greater local shopping 
opportunities for local residents and reducing the need for out of town shopping trips.  The 
second is the generation of additional sales tax dollars to the City.  The extent of both benefits 
can be measured through the same metric which is estimating the amount of net new retail sales 
and related sales taxes that would be generated.  This requires an estimate of the total store 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 47



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 25 Final Report 

sales and the percent that would net new resulting from reduction of existing leakage (sales to 
residents currently shopping out of the City) plus and additional inflow from out of city shoppers.  
The remaining portion of sales are transfers from other stores, often called retail cannibalization. 

There are significant differences in the potential to increase retail sales and sales taxes by store 
category and specific tenant.  A full cannibalization analysis is beyond the scope of this study as 
it would require a project development program with specific tenants as well as an evaluation of 
existing store sales and expenditure patterns requiring detailed sales tax data analysis.  EPS has 
provided an order of magnitude comparison between the anchor stores and selected mass 
merchandisers with Medium or High potential in Table 3. 

Table 3  
Estimated Net New Sales 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Existing Avg. Store Avg. Annual Annual % Taxable Taxable % Net New Net New Net New
Retailer Store Size Sales /sq ft. Sales $ Sales $ To City Sales $ Sales Tax $

Large Format
Wal-Mart No 120,000 $400 $48,000,000 85% $40,800,000 25% $10,200,000 $347,820
Sam's Club No 125,000 $500 $62,500,000 60% $37,500,000 50% $18,750,000 $639,375
Kohls No 88,000 $250 $22,000,000 95% $20,900,000 50% $10,450,000 $356,345
Costco No 150,000 $800 $120,000,000 60% $72,000,000 50% $36,000,000 $1,227,600
Lowe's No 100,000 $300 $30,000,000 85% $25,500,000 25% $6,375,000 $217,388
King Soopers Marketplace No 125,000 $400 $50,000,000 50% $25,000,000 25% $6,250,000 $213,125
JC Penney No 90,000 $250 $22,500,000 95% $21,375,000 50% $10,687,500 $364,444

Selected Mid Format
TJ Maxx No 30,000 $250 $7,500,000 95% $7,125,000 50% $3,562,500 $121,481
Babys R Us No 30,000 $300 $9,000,000 95% $8,550,000 50% $4,275,000 $145,778
Old Navy No 20,000 $300 $6,000,000 95% $5,700,000 50% $2,850,000 $97,185
Ultimate Electronics Yes 30,000 $500 $15,000,000 95% $14,250,000 25% $3,562,500 $121,481
HomeGoods (TJ Maxx) No 30,000 $300 $9,000,000 95% $8,550,000 50% $4,275,000 $145,778
Container Store No 30,000 $450 $13,500,000 95% $12,825,000 50% $6,412,500 $218,666
Sport Authority Yes 50,000 $300 $15,000,000 95% $14,250,000 25% $3,562,500 $121,481
REI Yes 30,000 $500 $15,000,000 95% $14,250,000 25% $3,562,500 $121,481
Hobby Lobby No 30,000 $200 $6,000,000 95% $5,700,000 50% $2,850,000 $97,185

Note: Boulder city tax rate 3.41%

Source: Economic & Planning Systems

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Data\[20857-Tenant Survey.xls]Net New Sales  

As shown the estimated annual sales volume of the anchor stores varies dramatically by type of 
store and specific tenants.  In general apparel merchants have the lowest sales starting at $250 
per square foot per year and the membership warehouses have the highest at an estimated 
$500 per square foot for Sam’s and $800 per square foot for Costco.  The second factor is the 
percent of sales that are subject to tax.  The supermarkets and membership warehouses are 
discounted to account for the portion of total sales attributable to food for home consumption 
which is not subject to sales tax.  Finally the portion of taxable sales that is net new to the City is 
estimated in 25 percent increments.  In our opinion, 50 percent net new sales is an optimistic 
capture rate given the large array of competing stores.  Lowe’s, Wal-Mart and King Soopers 
Marketplace are further reduced to a 25 percent net new estimate given the existence of directly 
competing stores already in the City.  The mid boxes rated the lowest net new at 25 percent, 
including Ultimate Electronics, Sports Authority, and REI, are the retailers with existing stores for 
which a new store would be a replacement or expansion. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 48



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 26 Final Report 

Res ident ia l  M arke t  

As a result of the quality of life offered in Boulder, a large student housing market, and 
geographic, as well as self-imposed constraints on land supply, Boulder has long-enjoyed a 
healthy and stable residential market.  Residential construction has averaged approximately 321 
units annually since 2000.  In fact, despite a national economic recession, Boulder has already 
eclipsed this average through July, issuing 336 residential permits in 2010, as shown in Table 4. 

Table 4  
Boulder Housing Unit Permits, 2000-2010 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Type 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 YTD Total # % of Total Avg. #

Single Family Detached 106 71 61 78 83 77 108 105 86 47 31 822 25.6% 82
Single Family Attached 1 16 55 4 38 33 16 25 18 15 9 10 229 7.1% 23
Duplex 6 5 10 23 34 10 0 4 0 3 0 95 3.0% 10
Multifamily 4 241 185 132 391 98 160 315 408 129 295 2,063 64.2% 206
Mobile Home 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 0.1% 0
Total Units 132 373 260 271 541 203 293 442 509 188 336 3,212 100.0% 321

Source: City of Boulder; Economic & Planning Systems

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Data\Building Permits\[20857-ResBuildingPermits.xls]ResPermits '00-'09

2000 - 2009

 

In addition to its long-term stability, the Boulder residential market is unique in that the 
multifamily segment composes a much larger percent of the overall market than in cities of 
similar size.  Since 2000, the City has issued 206 multifamily units annually, or roughly 64 
percent of building permit activity over the last 10 years.  Through 2010 YTD, the City has 
permitted 295 multifamily units, or almost 88 percent of total housing units in 2010.  In 
comparison, since 2000 only 33 percent of residential construction activity in Fort Collins, a city 
of comparable size in the Front Range, was composed of multifamily units. 

Projecting the historical annual average going forward, the City of Boulder is anticipated to add 
1,032 units through 2015 and 2,064 units through 2020, as shown in Table 5.  Several 
multifamily projects are already under construction or in various planning stages, including the 
Transit Village, a 160-acre redevelopment area near the proposed multi-modal transit station 
north of Pearl Parkway, as well as units adjacent 29th Street Mall and Violet  Crossing.  Factoring 
planned projects into the future housing forecast, the next four years of residential development 
are likely over-absorbed.  However, beginning in 2015, Diagonal Plaza could capture up to 300 
units through 2020, or more optimistically, 450 units through 2020 depending on its ability to 
compete with new projects outside the Transit Village. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 49



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 27 Final Report 

Table 5  
Residential Demand Forecast, 2011-2020 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study  

Type Capture 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2020 Total # Avg. # Total # Avg. # Total # Avg. #

Base 206 206 206 206 206 1,032 1,032 206 1,032 206 2,063 413
Transit Village 183 203 141 129 96 518 752 150 518 104 1,270 254
29th Street 93 0 0 0 0 0 93 19 0 0 93 19
Violet Crossing 45 53 0 0 0 0 98 20 0 0 98 20
Remaining 0 0 0 0 89 514 89 18 514 103 602 120

Other 50% 0 0 0 0 44 257 44 9 257 51 301 60
Diagonal Plaza 50% 0 0 0 0 44 257 44 9 257 51 301 60

Total 321 256 141 129 185 1,032 1,032 206 1,032 206 2,063 413

Optimistic 206 206 206 206 206 1,032 1,032 206 1,032 206 2,063 413
Transit Village 183 203 141 129 96 518 752 150 518 104 1,270 254
29th Street 93 0 0 0 0 0 93 19 0 0 93 19
Violet Crossing 45 53 0 0 0 0 98 20 0 0 98 20
Remaining 0 0 0 0 89 514 89 18 514 103 602 120

Other 25% 0 0 0 0 22 128 22 4 128 26 151 30
Diagonal Plaza 75% 0 0 0 0 66 385 66 13 385 77 452 90

Total 321 256 141 129 185 1,032 1,032 206 1,032 206 2,063 413

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Data\Building Permits\[20857-ResBuildingPermits.xls]Capture

2011 - 2015 2015-2020 Total #

 

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 50



Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 28 20857_rpt_092310.doc 

4. DEVELOPMENT FEASIBILITY 

This section evaluates the financial feasibility of the three development scenarios.  The feasibility 
analysis compares future project costs to future project revenues.  In addition to costs, a 
developer will require some form of return to account for project risk, time, and effort.  If 
estimated project revenues exceed project costs plus return, the project is determined to be 
feasible.  If estimated project revenues are less than project costs plus return, the project is 
considered to be infeasible.   

A negative difference between project revenues and project costs plus return, is known as a 
feasibility gap.  Feasibility gaps are common in complex redevelopment projects, and the City 
including the Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) has a number of tools that can be used to 
address these gaps using various forms of public tax dollars.  Should the City choose to pursue 
an urban renewal plan for the site, it will allow for the use of tax increment financing (TIF) to 
help address the feasibility gap.  There are also additional public financing mechanisms that can 
be utilized to address project shortfalls as discussed below. 

Deve lopment  P rog ra m 

The development program for the three scenarios is summarized in Table 6.  The scenarios 
increase in density and complexity from Scenario 1 which includes 295,000 square feet of space 
at a total gross density of 0.29 FAR to Scenario 3 with 711,000 square feet and a gross density 
of 0.70 FAR on a total site of 23.5 acres as shown. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 51



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 29 Final Report 

Table 6  
Development Program 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Program
Master Project Master Project Master Project

Total Developer Developer Total Developer Developer Total Developer Developer

Commercial (Sq. Ft.)
Retail

Large Format 120,000 120,000 0 0
Large Format (Small) 88,000 88,000 88,000 88,000 0
Mid Box 25,000 25,000 70,000 70,000 98,500 98,500
Ancillary 10,000 10,000 22,000 22,000 70,500 70,500

Office 0 0 0
Total 243,000 123,000 120,000 180,000 180,000 0 169,000 169,000 0

Hotel (Rooms) 136 136 136 136 136 136
Residential (Units)

Urban Townhomes 0 0 0 0 44 44
Condo/Lofts:  3-5 Story 0 0 160 160 278 108 170
Apts/Lofts: 3-5 Story 0 0 0 0 80 0 80
Subtotal 0 0 0 160 0 160 402 152 250

Hotel (Sq. Ft.) 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000 52,000
Residential (Sq. Ft.)

Urban Townhomes 0 0 0 0 0 0 88,000 88,000 0
Condo/Lofts:  3-5 Story 0 0 0 192,000 0 192,000 306,000 134,000 172,000
Apts/Lofts: 3-5 Story 0 0 0 0 0 0 96,000 0 96,000
Subtotal 0 0 0 192,000 0 192,000 490,000 222,000 268,000

Total Development (Sq. Ft.) 295,000 123,000 172,000 424,000 180,000 244,000 711,000 391,000 320,000
Total Site 23.48 Acres 1,022,919 1,022,919 1,022,919
Gross FAR 0.29 0.41 0.70

Source:  Economic & Planning Systems; City of Boulder, Oz Architecture, RRC, Scott Cox & Associates

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Models\[20857-Diagonal Plaza Financial Model.xls]2-Dev Summary

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 52



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 30 Final Report 

Pro jec t  Cos ts  

Project costs include acquisition costs, site development costs, and vertical development costs.  
Because acquisition costs will be the same for each scenario, these costs are broken out 
separately, followed by a description of site and vertical development costs for each scenario.  All 
site development costs were estimated by Scott, Cox & Associates using the site plans produced 
by OZ Architecture.  All vertical costs, including parking, are estimated by EPS based on 
comparable development projects. 

Acquisition Cost Estimate 

A rough order of magnitude estimate of the range of land values was developed, for planning 
purposes only, based on multiple interviews with area brokers regarding their opinion of the 
value of commercial land in the City, as well as limited available sales comparables for properties 
of varying sizes.  In addition, EPS performed a direct capitalization analysis to approximate the 
income-based value of the site.  Based on this research, EPS established a rough approximate 
value between $30 and $45 per square foot of land subject to additional verification.  As an input 
to the financial model, a base acquisition price in the middle of the estimate range, or 
approximately $38 per square foot of land was utilized.  It should be noted that this is simply an 
estimate used for the purposes of this analysis and is not an appraiser’s opinion of value. 

No actual determination of value for the project area or individual parcels is either 
offered or implied.  The actual value of the site cannot be determined without more 
extensive appraisal work at the time of development.  The exact acquisition price will 
depend on multiple factors, including but not limited to: the size of the parcel, shape, 
access, visibility, and the willingness to sell; the occupancy level and NOI of existing 
uses; and larger economic and market conditions present at the time of sale.   

In addition to the price of land, the entity in charge of assembly will also incur a number of 
additional fees for services rendered during the acquisition process, including legal, consultant, 
and broker fees.  EPS estimates these additional soft costs at 15 percent of acquisition.  Based 
on the above, total acquisition is estimated at approximately $44.7 million as shown in Table 7. 

Site Development Costs 

All three scenarios also incur the same demolition costs estimated at $1.6 million.  Additional site 
development costs including streets, green space, detention, utilities, signage, and various soft 
costs are estimated at $6.0 million for Scenario 1 as shown in Table 7.  Total site development 
costs for Scenario 2 are estimated at $6.2 million and $6.7 million for Scenario 3 as shown. 

Vertical Development Costs 

As identified earlier, several of the buildings in each of the development scenarios are projected 
to be constructed by the Master Developer.  Vertical development costs are estimated by 
summing the shell building costs plus tenant improvements for each building, as well as the 
allocated share of parking.  Surface parking is estimated at $900 per space, garage parking at 
$12,000 per space, and underground parking at $24,000 per space.  In addition to hard costs 
associated with vertical development, an additional set of various soft costs (estimated at 32 
percent of hard costs) is included. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 53



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 31 Final Report 

• Vertical development costs to be incurred by the Master Developer in Scenario 1 include the 
88,000 square foot large format store, the 25,000 square foot mid-box store, and the 10,000 
square feet of ancillary retail space, as well as the allocated surface parking for these uses.  
Total vertical development costs to be incurred by the Master Developer in Scenario 1, 
including parking, are estimated at $15.5 million. 

• Vertical development costs to be incurred by the Master Developer in Scenario 2 include the 
88,000 square foot large format store, 70,000 square feet of mid-box retail, and 22,000 
square feet of ancillary retail space, as well as the allocated surface parking for these uses.  
Total vertical development costs to be incurred by the Master Developer in Scenario 2, 
including parking, are estimated at $23.5 million. 

• Vertical development costs to be incurred by the Master Developer in Scenario 3 include 
98,500 square feet of mid-box retail (across four buildings), 70,500 square feet of ancillary 
or groundfloor retail space, and 152 residential units, including 44 townhomes and 108 
multifamily units in mixed-use buildings.  In addition, the Master Developer is anticipated to 
construct 716 parking spaces, including 350 surface, 226 structured, and 140 underground 
spaces.  Total vertical development costs to be incurred by the Master Developer in Scenario 
3, including parking, are estimated at $79.5 million. 

Total Project Costs 

Total costs including acquisition, site development, and vertical development costs for Scenario 1 
are estimated at $66.2 million, as shown in Table 7.  Total costs for Scenario 2 are estimated at 
$74.4 million, and total costs for Scenario 3 are estimated at $130.9 million. 

Table 7  
Cost Summary 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Master Developer Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

Costs
Acquisition Costs $44,701,579 $44,701,579 $44,701,579
Site Development Costs $5,972,967 $6,214,179 $6,674,820
Vertical Development Costs $15,515,280 $23,456,136 $79,486,440
Total $66,189,827 $74,371,894 $130,862,839

Source:  Economic & Planning Systems; City of Boulder, Oz Architecture, RRC, Scott Cox & Associates

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Models\[20857-Diagonal Plaza Financial Model.xls]1-Net Summary  

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 54



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 32 Final Report 

Pro jec t  Revenues  

Project revenues to the Master Developer include the sale of land parcels for future development 
and the value of vertical development constructed by the Master Developer.  It should be noted 
that while the value of vertical development is based on operating income, the potential 
operating income received from operating the buildings is not included in project revenues. 

Land Sales 

As part of the master development process, the Master Developer would subdivide the larger site 
into development parcels.  While the Master Developer may pursue vertical development on 
some or many of the parcels, other development parcels will be sold to project developers to 
develop a specific type of product such as residential or hotel uses.  These land sales include the 
land required for the building pad plus the allocated parking for these uses.  Some future uses 
are willing pay very little for upfront land costs, such as large format retailers which act as an 
anchor or driver for traffic necessary for other uses.  Land parcels purchased at a discount from 
acquisition costs will likely need to be offset by uses willing to pay a premium over acquisition 
prices, such as ancillary retail and/or residential uses. 

• Scenario 1 features a 120,000 square foot large format retailer.  Large format retailers 
frequently prefer to construct their own store, and as a retail anchor, are expected to acquire 
the land at a discount compared to the remaining uses.  The land sale to the 120,000 square 
foot large format retailer will include the land required for the building pad, as well as an 
allocation of the surface parking.  Other land sales to project developers include the land 
required for the 52,000 square foot hotel, which includes the building pad and allocated 
surface parking.  Total land sale revenue under Scenario 1 is estimated at $5.9 million. 

• Land sales under Scenario 2 include the building pad for the 160 units of multifamily 
residential and adjacent 200 structured garage spaces, as well as the building pad for the 
52,000 square foot hotel and allocated surface parking.  Total land sale revenue under 
Scenario 2 is estimated at $10.2 million. 

• Land sales anticipated under Scenario 3 include the building pad for the 170 multifamily 
residential units and 240 structured parking spaces, the building pad for the 80 multifamily 
residential units in the southeast corner of the site and allocated surface parking, and the 
building pad and allocated surface parking for the 52,000 square foot hotel.  Total land sale 
revenue under Scenario 3 is estimated at $17.8 million. 

Vertical Development Value 

The value of the vertical development constructed by the Master Developer must also be 
accounted in the analysis.  This value is estimated by EPS using sales comparables for residential 
development and a direct capitalization approach for commercial values.  A direct capitalization 
approach estimates net operating income for each use based on estimated future market rents, 
vacancies, and expenses, and then divides this income by a capitalization rate.  Capitalization 
rates are ratios extracted from the market that indicate the rate investors are willing to pay for 
an income stream.  Capitalization rates are inverse ratios.  Thus, by dividing net operating 
income by the capitalization rate, an estimate of market value can be derived. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 55



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 33 Final Report 

• Vertical development value in Scenario 1 includes the value of the 88,000 square foot large 
format retail store, the 25,000 square foot mid-box store and 10,000 square feet of ancillary 
retail space.  Total vertical development value accrued to the Master Developer is estimated 
to be $18.0 million in Scenario 1. 

• Vertical development value under Scenario 2 includes the value of the 88,000 square foot 
large format retail store, the 70,000 square feet of mid-box retail, and 22,000 square feet of 
ancillary retail space.  Total vertical development value accrued to the Master Developer is 
estimated to be $32.6 million in Scenario 2. 

• Vertical development value under Scenario 3 includes the value of the 98,500 square feet of 
mid-box retail, 70,500 square feet of ancillary and groundfloor retail, and 152 residential 
units.  Total vertical development value accrued to the Master Developer is estimated to be 
$125.1 million in Scenario 2. 

Total Project Revenue 

Total project revenue under Scenario 1, including land sales to other project developers and 
vertical development value, is estimated at $23.6 million, as shown in Table 8.  Total project 
revenue for Scenario 2 is estimated at $43.8 million and total revenue for Scenario 3 is 
estimated at $142.9 million. 

Table 8  
Total Project Revenues 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Master Developer Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

Revenue/Value
Land Sales $5,908,750 $10,192,000 $17,843,500
Vertical Development Value $18,000,000 $32,640,000 $125,050,000
Total $23,908,750 $42,832,000 $142,893,500

Source:  Economic & Planning Systems; City of Boulder, Oz Architecture, RRC, Scott Cox & Associates

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Models\[20857-Diagonal Plaza Financial Model.xls]1-Net Summary  

Deve lopment  Feas ib i l i t y  

As mentioned earlier, in order to determine development feasibility under each scenario, total 
project costs must be compared to total project revenue.  In addition to costs, the developer will 
seek a financial return to compensate for investment opportunity cost, risk, time, and effort.  The 
required developer return is different for each individual developer, but is usually in the 10 to 20 
percent range, depending on the type of development and level of risk.  Because this feasibility 
analysis is performed on a static basis (vs. annual) and features a mix of for-sale and operating 
property, the developer return is calculated as the revenue required to achieve a certain level of 
“profit” over costs.  For the purpose of this analysis, a developer return of 15 percent (total 
project revenue must exceed total project costs by 15 percent) was selected.  Netting estimated 
project costs plus required return against estimated project revenue determines the feasibility of 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 56



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 34 Final Report 

each scenario.  If estimated project revenue exceeds costs plus return, the scenario is 
considered feasible based on the targeted level of return.  If estimated project revenue is less 
than costs plus return, the scenario is infeasible and would require an additional infusion of funds 
from public financing to address the gap. 

Based on the planning level numbers, feasibility is more a relative measure between the 
scenarios than an absolute number.  Netting estimated project costs against estimated project 
revenue under Scenario 1 results in a feasibility gap of -$52.2 million, as shown in Table 9.  
Netting project costs against project revenue under Scenario 2 results in a feasibility gap of  
-$42.7 million.  Under Scenario 3, project revenue exceeds projects costs by 9 percent, but fails 
to meet the target return of 15 percent.  With a feasibility gap of -$7.6 million, Scenario 3 is 
therefore the best performing alternative but is still expected to require an infusion of public 
financing to close the gap. 

Table 9  
Development Feasibility 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Master Developer Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

Costs
Acquisition Costs $44,701,579 $44,701,579 $44,701,579
Site Development Costs $5,972,967 $6,214,179 $6,674,820
Vertical Development Costs $15,515,280 $23,456,136 $79,486,440
Total $66,189,827 $74,371,894 $130,862,839

Revenue/Value
Land Sales $5,908,750 $10,192,000 $17,843,500
Vertical Development Value $18,000,000 $32,640,000 $125,050,000
Total $23,908,750 $42,832,000 $142,893,500

Net ($42,281,077) ($31,539,894) $12,030,661
Required Return on Cost (Profit) 15% 15% 15%
Actual Return on Cost -64% -42% 9%
Feasibility Gap ($52,209,550) ($42,695,679) ($7,598,765)

Source:  Economic & Planning Systems; City of Boulder, Oz Architecture, RRC, Scott Cox & Associates

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Models\[20857-Diagonal Plaza Financial Model.xls]1-Net Summary

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 57



 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 35 20857_rpt_092310.doc 

5. REDEVELOPMENT OPTIONS 

This section identifies the additional public financing that could be used to address the 
extraordinary costs associated with redevelopment of the Diagonal Plaza properties.  At a 
minimum, tax increment financing, as enabled by BURA’s designation of an urban renewal area 
and adoption of an urban renewal plan would be required.  Based on the analysis of available 
public financing and other considerations, the City’s implementation options are identified. 

Pub l i c  F ina nc ing  Mecha n is ms  

A number of public financing tools are available to fund required infrastructure costs.  These 
tools can be used independently or as part of a larger package of pubic financing sources.  Each 
tool provides some distinct advantages and disadvantages and should be evaluated based on the 
City’s redevelopment goals for the site.  A brief description of each is outlined below 

• Tax Increment Financing (TIF) – TIF is the primary financing tool enable by either an 
urban renewal authority (URA) or a downtown development authority (DDA).  TIF earmarks 
new property taxes from all taxing entities and/or local sales tax revenues generated from 
new development and funnels this incremental revenue toward various infrastructure costs.  
After the retirement of revenue bonds, usually 25 years, incremental annual tax revenue is 
redirected back to the city and other taxing entities. 

• Metro District – Title 32 Metropolitan Districts are the most widely used special district.  A 
Metro District is a quasi-governmental entity and political subdivision of the state formed to 
finance, construct, and maintain public facilities.  A Metro District is governed by an elected 
board of directors and functions within the parameters of the city-approved Service Plan and 
state law.  A common use of Metro Districts is to finance public infrastructure as part of new 
development or redevelopment.  Bonds are issued at the onset of a project, capital facilities 
are constructed, and the debt is serviced by property tax proceeds from future property owners. 

• Public Improvement Fee (PIF) - Considered a private financing tool, a public improvement 
fee (PIF) is a fee imposed by a developer on property tenants; who then, in turn, typically 
pass on the fee to the consumers.  A developer uses lease terms and other real estate 
agreements to impose the PIF.  The purpose of a PIF is to finance public improvements.  PIFs 
are collected as a fee charged on sales within a set of negotiated categories and a designated 
geographic boundary.  Depending on the financing body, corporate, general obligation, or 
revenue bonds may be issued backed by PIF revenues.  As stated, a PIF is not a tax but a 
fee; therefore, it becomes a part of the cost of the sale/service and is subject to sales tax.  A 
local jurisdiction has the ability to reduce the sales tax within the PIF boundary to keep the 
total charge competitive with other retail outlets.  PIFs are frequently becoming common as a 
financing source in retail-driven redevelopment projects. 

 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 58



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 36 Final Report 

Pub l i c  F ina nc ing  Revenue  Potent ia l  

EPS estimated the total revenue generation potential of the identified public financing tools under 
a specified aggressive financing package.  The amount of financing required for a specific project 
would be determined by the size of the project financing gap as well as the City’s willingness to 
dedicate these revenues.  The utilization of these tools or package or tools should be evaluated 
by the City based on its own redevelopment goals and willingness to participate.  A more detailed 
annual analysis will be required should the City decide to pursue an urban renewal designation. 

Tax Increment Financing (TIF) 

Property Tax 

• Based on County Assessor records, the estimated market value of the existing 23.4 acres 
totals $28.1 million.  This results in an assessed value base of approximately $8.2 million. 

• Combining both the vertical development value created by the Master Developer, as well as 
by future Project Developers, the total development value at buildout under Scenario 1 is 
anticipated to total approximately $52.4 million.  Under Scenario 2, total development value 
at project buildout is anticipated to be approximately $127.0 million.  Under Scenario 3, total 
development value at project buildout is anticipated to be $228.2. 

• After applying an adjustment for appraised value, total assessed value under Scenario 1 is 
estimated at $13.7 million.  Assessed value for Scenarios 2 and 3 is estimated to total $19.5 
and $29.4 million, respectively.  Netting out the existing assessed value of $8.2 million, total 
assessed value increment for Scenario 1 is estimated total $5.5 million, $11.4 million under 
Scenario 2, and $21.2 million under Scenario 3. 

• Annual revenue generated from property tax revenue at buildout is estimated to total $415,000 
under Scenario 1, $857,000 under Scenario 2, and $1.6 million, as shown in Table 10. 

Sales Tax 

• Based on sales tax records provided by the City, the estimated sales tax base of the existing 
23.4 acres totaled $14.2 million.   

• Using average sales volumes, EPS estimates total sales tax of revenue at buildout under 
Scenario 1 at $2.4 million.  Total sales tax revenue at buildout under Scenario 2 and 3 is 
estimated to total $1.7 million and $1.6 million, respectively. 

• Annual revenue generated from sales tax revenue at buildout is estimated to total $1.9 
million under Scenario 1, $1.3 million under Scenario 2, and $1.2 million under Scenario 3, 
as shown in Table 10. 

Metro District 

• Using an estimated tax of 20.0 mills, annual property tax revenue generated from a Metro 
District under Scenario 1 totals $273,000 at buildout, as shown in Table 10.  Annual 
property tax revenue generated from a Metro District under Scenarios 2 and 3 totals 
$391,000 and $587,000, respectively. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 59



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 37 Final Report 

Public Improvement Fee (PIF) 

• Using a PIF rate of 1.0 percent, annual fee revenue generated on sales is estimated to total 
$716,000 under Scenario 1 at buildout, as shown in Table 10.  Annual PIF revenue generated 
from Scenarios 1 and 2 is estimated at $530,000 and $498,000, respectively. 

Table 10  
Public Financing Potentials 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Master Developer Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

Public Financing Max
Annual Property TIF @ Buildout 100.0% $415,346 $857,601 $1,599,885
Annual Sales TIF @ Buildout 100.0% $1,877,803 $1,265,538 $1,158,634
Total Annual TIF $2,293,149 $2,123,138 $2,758,519
Annual Metro District @ Buildout 20.0 Mills $273,319 $390,521 $587,233
Annual Public Improvement Fee (PIF) @ Buildout 1.0% PIF $716,166 $530,493 $498,074
Total Annual Public Financing @ Buildout $3,282,635 $3,044,152 $3,843,827

1Buildout is assumed to occur over 10 years

Source:  Economic & Planning Systems; City of Boulder, Oz Architecture, RRC, Scott Cox & Associates

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Models\[20857-Diagonal Plaza Financial Model.xls]1-Net Summary  

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 60



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 38 Final Report 

Redeve lopment  F ina nc ia l  Feas ib i l i t y  

Adding the potential for public finance revenue generated by each scenario to the feasibility gap 
enhances each scenario’s overall development feasibility.  As identified in Chapter 3, sales 
generated at the redevelopment site from new development may not represent “new” sales 
dollars in the City, but rather a transfer of dollars from other areas in the City.  As a result, the 
impact of sales TIF should also be considered.  For the purposes of the enhanced development 
feasibility analysis, no sales TIF is used.  Under all other base assumptions regarding public 
financing scenarios, total annual public financing dollars under Scenario 1 are estimated at $1.6 
million.  Total pubic finance dollars under Scenarios 2 and 3 are estimated to total $1.8 million 
and $2.7 million, respectively.  Public financing dollars represent annual numbers and will occur 
overtime.  Thus, the annual public financing dollars generated over 25 years need to be 
discounted by some rate (6.5 percent) to derive today’s value for these dollars.  The value of 
pubic financing dollars today can be compared to the feasibility gap for each scenario to 
determine if feasibility can be achieved.  Based on the above public financing package, Scenarios 
1 and 2 remain financially infeasible, while Scenario 3 becomes financially feasible, as shown in 
Table 11. 

Table 11  
Project Feasibility with Public Financing 
Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 

Master Developer Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

Net ($42,281,077) ($31,539,894) $12,030,661
Required Return on Cost (Profit) 15.0% 15% 15% 15%
Actual Return on Cost -64% -42% 9%
Feasibility Gap ($52,209,550) ($42,695,679) ($7,598,765)

Public Financing Max
Annual Property TIF @ Buildout 100.0% $415,346 $857,601 $1,599,885
Annual Sales TIF @ Buildout 0.0% $0 $0 $0
Total Annual TIF $415,346 $857,601 $1,599,885
Annual Metro District @ Buildout 20.0 Mills $273,319 $390,521 $587,233
Annual Public Improvement Fee (PIF) @ Buildout 1.0% PIF $958,145 $530,493 $498,074
Total Annual Public Financing @ Buildout $1,646,811 $1,778,615 $2,685,192
Net Present Value over 25 years1 NPV @ 6.5% $13,189,281 $13,263,364 $20,022,256
Percent of Project Costs 20% 18% 15%

Net Gap w/Public Financing ($39,020,270) ($29,432,315) $12,423,490

1Buildout is assumed to occur over 10 years

Source:  Economic & Planning Systems; City of Boulder, Oz Architecture, RRC, Scott Cox & Associates

H:\20857-Diagonal Plaza Redevelopment Analysis\Models\[20857-Diagonal Plaza Financial Model.xls]1-Net Summary  

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 61



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 39 Final Report 

Sens i t i v i t y  Ana lys i s  

Under the base assumptions tested, Scenario 3 remains the only financially viable redevelopment 
option.  However, a number of different variables could impact these results.  EPS tested the 
sensitivity of three key assumptions outlined below and summarized the results. 

• Acquisition Price - As noted, the acquisition costs of the existing property are unknown at 
this time.  While EPS estimated the property could be acquired for a cost between $30 and 
$45 per square foot; the determined land price will significantly impact feasibility.  EPS 
tested the feasibility of each scenario using both the low and high end of this range. 

• Potential Large Format Tenant - Under Scenarios 1 and 2, the potential large format 
tenant and corresponding sales generation also impact feasibility.  Under the base 
assumption, the large format tenant is projected to generate $300 per square foot in sales 
annually.  However, should a Costco (at an estimated $800 per square foot) locate at the 
site, sales tax and PIF generation would be significantly higher, improving the public 
financing potential of Scenario 1.  EPS tested the ability for a higher sales generating tenant 
to impact feasibility in each scenario. 

• Public Financing - The public financing package identified earlier includes the use of 100 
percent of property TIF, zero percent of sales TIF, a 20 mill metro district, and a 1.0 percent 
PIF.  EPS tested the impact on project feasibility of a more aggressive package including 100 
percent of the sales tax TIF and raising the Metro District mill levy to 30 mills. 

Scenario 1 

On a financial basis, Scenario 1 is significantly challenged.  As noted, large format retailers 
generally pay very low land costs.  As a result, project revenue from land sales is significantly 
lower than project costs.  Even at an estimated acquisition cost at the low end of the range ($30 
per square foot), project revenues are insufficient to cover costs.  In addition, the inclusion of 
Costco as the large format retailer, generating significantly higher sales levels, fails to adequately 
address the feasibility gap, despite an aggressive public financing package featuring 100 percent 
property TIF, 100 percent sales TIF, a 30 mill Metro district, and a 1.0 percent PIF.  A feasible 
Scenario 1 would require land acquisition costs below $30 per square foot, while also utilizing an 
aggressive public finance package.  Assuming this acquisition cost might not be achievable, 
Scenario 1 will likely require the City to tap into other City resources to achieve feasibility. 

Scenario 2 

Scenario 2 faces similar financial challenges as Scenario 1.  The project revenue, including vertical 
development value, is not sufficient to achieve feasibility at the estimated acquisition prices, 
even at the low end of the range ($30 per square foot).  In addition, the large format and mid 
box retailers do not generate sufficient property and sales tax dollars to overcome the feasibility 
gap.  Even utilizing the aggressive public financing strategy outlined in Scenario 1, financial 
feasibility requires acquisition costs of $25 per square foot or lower.  Similar to Scenario 1, in 
order to achieve financial feasibility under base case acquisition costs, the City will likely need to 
tap into existing City funds. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 62



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 40 Final Report 

Scenario 3 

Scenario 3 contains the level of development density (and value) required to justify the land 
acquisition costs on a financial basis.  While public participation is likely to be required to support 
assembly, Scenario 3 requires the least level of financial subsidy of all the scenarios.  Under the 
base land cost assumption ($38 per square foot), only property TIF is required to overcome the 
feasibility gap.  At a land cost assumption of $45 per square foot, feasibility can be achieved 
using 100 percent of property TIF, a 20 mill Metro District and a 0.5 percent PIF. 

Imp lementa t ion  Opt ions  

The City’s implementation options require consideration of both market and financial feasibility 
considerations as will as other land use and urban design policy objectives.  The implementation 
options of the three scenarios tested are summarized below: 

Scenario 1: Commercial Only – This option is not feasible even with the maximum public 
financing package applied to the project.  Further, the estimated net new sales tax revenues 
from the supportable anchor tenants, ranging from approximately $200,000 to $600,000 per 
year, would not appear to justify the investment of additional public investment even if additional 
funds were available from other sources.  Only Costco as an anchor would generate more than 
$1.2 million in estimated annual net new tax revenue.  However, in our opinion, existing market 
conditions suggests that a Costco store within the City would not be supportable for at least five 
years and probably longer.  (It should be noted that Costco would require a 14 acre site for a 
150,000 square foot store, would not pay a premium for the property, and would leave little 
additional land for other revenue generating uses.  Recent Costco deals in the region have been at 
less than $6 per square foot of land.)  It would therefore appear to be extremely risky for the City 
to proceed with redevelopment for one very uncertain user when the alternative anchor uses result 
in relatively low levels of economic benefit that do not offset the levels of investment required. 

Scenario 2: Horizontal Mixed Use – this option tests a modest increase in overall density 
including a reduction in commercial square footage and replacement with residential uses to 
generate greater development and land values.  The incremental density and development value 
is insufficient to make the project financially feasible.  This compromised development plan is 
lacking from both an economic benefit and urban design perspective. 

Scenario 3: Vertical Mixed Use – This option, as defined, is the most feasible as tested on a 
static basis.  However, the amount, type, and configuration of retail development are unproven 
and may not prove feasible as drawn; at a minimum it would take an extended period to lease 
up which would also impact its feasibility.  The mixed use village concept meets more of the 
City’s urban design objectives, but may not be able to attract significant regional retail uses, and 
therefore may not meet the City’s economic development objectives.  The City will need to 
decide if the redevelopment of the property for its land use/urban design benefits, rather that 
economic development benefits, warrants a significant redevelopment investment. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 63



Diagonal Plaza Feasibility Study 
September 23, 2010 

Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. 41 Final Report 

Other  Cons idera t ions  

The City’s other implementation options include not pursuing a redevelopment option at this time 
or considering a more incremental/opportunistic redevelopment strategy.  

It should therefore consider if the implications of doing nothing are acceptable.  As a result of the 
limited supply of significant commercial space in the City, it is likely that the major vacant spaces 
in the shopping center and on the peripheral pad sites will be re-leased to other users.  The 
center is an older commercial property in the mature years of the real estate investment cycle.  
Typically, these older properties are leased to lower rent uses and continue to decline in quality 
and value until which time significant reinvestment and/or redevelopment are feasible.  This 
pattern of real estate decline and reinvestment is likely to take place slower in Boulder than it 
would in a less constrained market.  However, future tenants are likely to make some level of 
investment to utilize the property that will extend its useful life, similar to the lease of 
Albertson’s to 24 Hour Fitness.  In particular, the newer vacant mid box spaces formerly 
occupied by PetSmart and Ross will likely get reused within a two to three year time horizon 
given the overall lack of similar space in the City. It is however hard to determine the quality of 
future tenants, the level of investment that might be made, and how long the useful life of the 
center might be extended. 

The City could also decide to take a more incremental approach to the development of the 
property. Absent an overall development plan, and given the large number of separate property 
owners, a number of smaller redevelopment projects are likely to take place over time. If these 
projects met economic development goals, and if they have a documented financial need, the 
City could consider the use of urban renewal and TIF on a more reactive project by project basis.  

Finally, the City could also consider further planning and analysis of the Scenario 3 option, which 
demonstrates that a denser mixed use project has the potential to be feasible. The concept as 
developed, attempts to mix a number of mid box stores with residential and potentially office 
and live/work vertical uses. If this concept meets the City’s objectives, a number of refinements 
could be tested including a more aggressive acquisition plan that increases in density over the 
gross 0.7 FAR option tested, expands the size of the project area allowing for more development 
density, and refinements in the retail development program to create a better balance of mid 
box and ancillary retail space. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 64



 

Attachment H 
 

Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA) 
Board of Commissioners Special Meeting  

 
Wednesday, September 29, 2010 / 6:00pm 

City Council Chambers / Boulder Municipal Building / 1777 Broadway 
 
BURA BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
K C Becker 
John Wyatt 
Richard Wobbekind 
Jerry Lee 
Chet Winter 
 
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Jane Brautigam, City Manager 
David Gehr, Deputy City Attorney   
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Liz Hanson, Economic Vitality Coordinator  
 
1. Call to Order 

All Commissioners present, quorum met. 
 
2. Public Participation  

No one from the public addressed the board. 
 
3. Election of Officers  

Chairperson Richard Wobbekind (5-0). 
Vice Chairperson Jerry Lee (5-0). 

 
4. Appointment of Executive Director 

Executive Director Jane Brautigam. 
 
5. New Business 

Review and Comment: Consultants’ Economic Analysis Report on Diagonal 
Plaza Redevelopment Options. 

 
Opening Statements  
 
L. Hanson summarized the history of the Diagonal Plaza and explained that the site is 
deteriorating both in physical appearance and in tax revenues and has been a topic of 
discussion for some time.  The defined study area is 15 properties over 33 acres.  She also 
introduced the consultant (EPS) that was selected to complete phase one of the economic 
analysis.  This analysis gave estimates on the financial feasibility of three redevelopment 
scenarios: all commercial (with big box retail), horizontal mixed use, and vertical mixed 
use.  She also emphasized that the diagrams provided by the consultants are not official 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 65



 

and are only to help provide conceptual understanding.  She also called special attention 
to the fact that the land acquisition numbers are estimates and not official.  
 
Chris Leutzinger, EPS, acting as the representative from Economic Planning Systems 
(EPS) gave an overview of their “summary of findings”:  

1. Defined the amount space each development scenario would accommodate. 
2. The Diagonal Plaza site is a community level retailer with limited appeal to more 

regional uses. 
3. A redeveloped Diagonal Plaza site would be attractive to a limited number of 

larger format stores seeking access to the Boulder market. 
4. Diagonal Plaza could also attract one to four mid-box mass merchandisers given 

the number of potential store options and the lack of competitive sites. 
5. Most of the supportable retail stores fail to generate the desired economic benefits 

to the City. 
6. Scenario 1, commercial big box redevelopment is not feasible even with 

maximum public investment. 
7. Scenario 2, horizontal mixed use redevelopment is also not feasible even with full 

public financing. 
8. Scenario 3, vertical mixed use redevelopment is feasible with tax increment 

financing (TIF). 
9. Although Scenario 3 works from a financial perspective it may not work from a 

market perspective. 
10. The City’s other implementation options include not pursuing redevelopment, or 

property assembly on an incremental basis.  He also gave a brief list of possible 
retailers and the probably of obtaining each. 

 
L. Hanson explained that there will be questions posted on the monitor to help guide the 
discussion.  She asked the board be sure to discuss their thoughts on the need for big box 
retailers in Boulder, given the findings of the analysis. 
 
Board Discussion  
 
K. Becker proposed to begin the discussion with questions or points of clarification from 
the board. 
 
C. Winter requested to hear more about the history of the site and the general attitude 
toward redevelopment from the City, owners, and market perspectives. 
 
L. Hanson stated that out of the 15 property owners 10 are in-state, and she had 
personally spoken to all of them. All 15 owners received a letter from the City before the 
request for proposal (RFP) was issued. All the feedback has been positive. She also stated 
the mini-mall is for sale and other large properties are vacant. 
 
D. Driskell stated there is a need for more commercial land in Boulder and this property 
is underperforming. He restated the question, what role should the city play? 
 
K. Becker felt that the land cost estimates were high considering that the land was 
blighted, and asked EPS to explain how they calculated the numbers.   

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 66



 

 
C. Leutzinger, EPS, responded saying that the land cost was difficult to estimate.  
However, the numbers that were estimated were similar to the price of land in the area.  
He commented that the lots used for comparison are smaller than the overall study area. 
However, since the lot would have to be bought parcel by parcel it makes sense to 
compare to smaller land parcels.  
 
K. Becker noticed that 24 Hour Fitness is one of the largest tenants, and asked if this 
business has created any sales tax revenue (since its not a retail store) and if that could be 
a reason for the declining numbers. 
 
L. Hanson confirmed that the sales tax revenue from a gym is lower than most tenants, 
but it isn’t the main reason for the declining sales tax revenue from the site. 
 
K. Becker noted that Costco had a low probability of becoming a tenant (according to the 
EPS report) and asked if EPS had spoken to Costco directly. 
 
C. Leutzinger, EPS, said they spoke to a tenant representative, and used sales statistics 
to determine their probability of becoming a tenant.   
 
K. Becker inquired as to how EPS determined the density numbers for their analysis, 
because they seem low for Scenario 1. 
 
C. Leutzinger, EPS, indicated that it was restricted by surface parking requirements. 
 
J. Lee asked about the CAP (capitalization) rate EPS used in the estimates. 
 
C. Leutzinger, EPS, said he used a 9% CAP rate and 7-8% for the future. 
 
K. Becker asked if EPS felt that there couldn’t be any more development on the site for 
Scenario 1 (big box retailer).  
 
C. Leutzinger, EPS, said that it was possible, but very marginal. 
 
L. Hanson stated that staff has worked with the consultants to make sure that the 
scenarios have proper parking ratios to meet city parking requirements. 
 
R. Wobbekind said that he wouldn’t feel comfortable putting public money into the 
redevelopment unless there was a big draw to the site.  He also said that he would prefer 
big box redevelopment, however he doesn’t think that King Soopers Marketplace would 
be a large enough draw to guarantee the success of the site. 
 
J. Lee requested to know more about the “cannibalization” numbers for other tenants. He 
stated that the only way to accomplish the increase in revenue the City desires is to either 
bring people into town to shop or to keep them from leaving town to shop. 
 
C. Leutzinger, EPS, stated that the only store that would draw from outside the Boulder, 
and therefore have the lowest cannibalization numbers, is Costco. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 67



 

 
J. Lee recalled that the last time there was discussion with Costco about a Boulder 
location, the company indicated they wouldn’t come due to cannibalization from their 
other site. 
 
Public Hearing 
 
Steve Colby, Boulder, asked that the board realize the partnership opportunity with this 
project.  Also, he would like to see them take a direct approach and make a deliberate and 
proactive effort.  He asked that the board keep their options open and consider industrial 
and government uses as well. 
 
R. Wobbekind responded saying that government and industrial uses will not generate 
the type of revenues that the City is looking for from this site.   
 
Eric Karnes, Boulder, explained his background and current occupation as a consultant 
to national developers, and his belief that his insight may be beneficial.  He spoke to his 
experience working with developers in the south and indicated that Atlanta had made the 
mistake of over cannibalizing their retail markets which jeopardized the existence of its 
traditional shopping centers.  He also warned BURA that recent trends indicate that big 
box retailers are not doing well and advised the commissioners to go with a mid-box 
mixed use with a combination of residential and office space.  He also advised BURA to 
use one developer throughout the entire project.  
 
C. Winter inquired if the developers Mr. Karnes represented would be interested in this 
site. 
 
Eric Karnes, Boulder, indicated that there was a good chance they would be interested. 
However, there are still many unanswered questions about the site. 
 
R. Wobbekind inquired as to why the neighboring Housing Authority site wasn’t 
included. 
 
L. Hanson said it could still be added, however it was left out for this initial analysis. 
 
John Schwartz, Boulder, introduced himself as a co-owner of property number 14 on 
the study map.  He said they recently did improvements on the building and pointed out 
that, compared to land costs, the improvement costs are extremely high.  
 
C. Winter asked the property owner what he would like to see (in terms of 
redevelopment). 
 
John Schwartz, Boulder, stated that it is a very complicated situation. However, he 
agreed that redevelopment was a good idea.  He agreed the area was dysfunctional and 
complicated given the many owners and that the City should look at a more incremental 
approach. 
 
J. Wyatt asked the owner how his property was performing. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 68



 

 
John Schwartz, Boulder, said that despite a bad market they were doing well and 
vacancies were low.  However, rental returns are low and the market is very bad. 
 
Public Participation closed 
 
J. Wyatt asked how other shopping centers are doing, and in particular, Twenty Ninth 
Street. 
 
L. Hanson said that some areas of Twenty Ninth Street may be re-branded, mainly the 
central plaza area. She indicated overall the site is doing very well, vacancies are low and 
tax revenues are up.  She also indicated that the sites are fundamentally different and the 
redevelopment of Twenty Ninth Street had no public financing.   
 
K. Becker pointed out that the Transit Village project was going to displace some 
industrial buildings, and asked if that was considered when planning uses for Diagonal 
Plaza. 
 
D. Driskell responded that Diagonal Plaza was not considered as a possible replacement 
for the displaced industrial buildings because it is prime commercial redevelopment 
space in the City. 
 
R. Wobbekind and J. Wyatt both asked about the possibility of buying the properties 
one by one as they became available and slowly developing the property. 
 
D. Driskell responded by saying that it would be difficult given the interconnectedness of 
the parcels. 
 
K. Becker asked for confirmation that the purpose of this meeting is to render a 
recommendation from BURA. 
 
D. Driskell confirmed KC Becker’s inquiry and explained that Planning Board will also 
be informed on the process and then the City Council will give direction to city staff on 
the project. 
 
Discussion Question: “What are the BURA Commissioners’ comments on the 
consultants’ economic analysis?”  
  
R. Wobbekind wanted to know more about density numbers.  He feels that for the 
project to work it will need higher density. 
 
D. Driskell responded saying that the City staff worked with the consultants to be sure 
the scenarios had higher density numbers. 
  
R. Wobbekind stated that all the scenarios will need higher density to truly be 
successful. 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 69



 

C. Winter said that it is a good time to be planning for this site (given the current 
economic climate) and he wants to keep the project moving forward. Also, he suggested 
that it may be beneficial to bring in developers to share their perspective and to get a 
more realistic feel for the possible success of the site.  He said Diagonal Plaza is a golden 
opportunity to do some creative thinking.  
 
J. Lee commended EPS, however, the exact financial estimates were very inexact and 
wanted to move forward and get feedback from retailers and developers to better 
determine the feasibility of the redevelopment. He also stated he was confident the 
property owners would be “on board” since they only have one piece of the site. He then 
asked the city staff what they want to see. It is very important to bring in developers and 
see if they are interested. 
 
C. Winter restated that he feels that this project could be extremely exciting and is a 
great chance to be very creative.  However, the City needs to talk to developers.  
 
Discussion Question: “What do the BURA Commissioners believe to be the most 
important development scenario for the Diagonal Plaza Area?” 
a) As one of the last viable “Big Box” retail districts?  
b) As a mixed use  redevelopment district? 
c) Another land use option? 
 
K. Becker questioned some of EPS’ assumptions on land cost and density, and wanted 
more information about market feasibility.  With the information present there needs to 
be higher density and lower land costs for the project to be successful.  She wants 
affordable shopping in Boulder that will raise sales tax revenue and to bring in something 
new. A large commercial site is rare. Furthermore, she feels the city needs to take an 
intentional approach to redevelopment, and emphasized the need to bring in a private 
developer to have a conversation.  She restated her desire for higher density in a big box 
development. 
 
R. Wobbekind agreed with KC Becker, and said that Scenario 3 is not appealing since 
mid-box stores would compete with other Boulder stores. He wants something that will 
draw people into the city. He feels that Costco has the best ability to do that.  He recalled 
that the Twenty Ninth Street development occurred with no public money being 
involved. He also agreed that they need to talk to developers about the project.   He stated 
that if the City wants the project to go forward then it has to make it happen, especially in 
a tough economic environment. 
 
Discussion Question: “Do the BURA Commissioners believe that there is a 
compelling economic reason for the city to pursue a public-private partnership for 
the redevelopment of the Diagonal Plaza area? If so, what do the BURA 
Commissioners recommend as the next steps (e.g. blight study, area planning, 
further economic analysis), if any?” 
 
D. Driskell informed the board that there was an initial conversation with the local ULI 
(Urban Land Institute) group to identify who they would to bring in for a charette. 
 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 70



 

R. Wobbekind said that a ULI analysis would be fine. He wants to move along with the 
project and feels that a blight study is the next step because if the City can’t assemble the 
properties they can’t move forward. 
 
K. Becker felt that area planning efforts would not be a good use of staff’s time if the 
project won’t work 
 
R. Wobbekind stated that a ULI analysis is only brainstorming and therefore is very low 
cost.   
 
J. Lee made the point that the City needs to define a vision for the site before any real 
redevelopment decisions can be made. 
 
K. Becker and R. Wobbekind both agreed that TIF will be needed to complete this 
project. 
 
Discussion Question: Is a new big box store important for Boulder’s economy? 
    
a) If yes, is the Diagonal Plaza the only likely place that a big box can be located?     
 
b) If yes, what level of public subsidy or other strategy is appropriate for the city to 
pursue in achieving this objective? 
 
c) If no, should the City pursue other redevelopment options at this time? 
 
d) If no, should the City pursue other options for the interim improvements to the 
Diagonal Plaza site to enhance its appearance, function, and tax revenue?  
 
R. Wobbekind restated that he would like to see some sort of big box development for 
the site the developers.  If indicate that it will not work he will accept other options, 
however this is the last place for a big box development to occur in Boulder and he 
believes the city needs a mass retailer in the core area. 
 
K. Becker supported Wobbekind’s statement and cited Transit Village and McKenzie 
Junction as other sites that would not work for a big box development. 
 
All the commissioners agreed that there shouldn’t be any city funds put into an attempt to 
fix the appearance of the site for the time being (no to option D). Rather, the city should 
wait for the results of a blight study to determine the possibility of redevelopment and 
consider a low cost ULI (Urban Land Institute) analysis.  
The meeting was adjourned at 7:50 p.m. 

Matters from the City Manager Item 6A    Page 71




